Ludwik Hirszfeld Institute of Immunology and Experimental Therapy Polish Academy of Sciences

RESEARCH REPORT 2014

	Contents	Page
1.	Laboratory of Bacteriophages Head: Professor Andrzej Górski, M.D.	2
2.	Laboratory of Microbial Immunochemistry and Vaccines Head: Professor Czesław Ługowski, Ph.D.	5
3.	Laboratory of Glycoconjugate Immunochemistry Head: Professor Hubert Krotkiewski, Ph.D.	6
4.	Laboratory of General Immunochemistry Head: Professor Maria Janusz, Ph.D.	8
5.	Laboratory of Tumor Molecular Immunobiology Head: Professor Leon Strządała, Ph.D.	9
6.	Laboratory of Experimental Anticancer Therapy Head: Professor Joanna Wietrzyk, Ph.D.	11
7.	Laboratory of Biomedical Chemistry Head: Professor Janusz Boratyński, Ph.D., Eng.	12
8.	Laboratory of Medical Microbiology Head: Professor Andrzej Gamian, Ph.D	13
9.	Laboratory of Virology Head: Professor Egbert Piasecki, Ph.D.	14
10.	Laboratory of Immunobiology Head: Professor Michał Zimecki, Ph.D.	15
11.	Laboratory of Immunopathology Head: Professor Irena Frydecka, M.D, Ph.D.	17
12.	Laboratory of Reproductive Immunology Head: Professor Anna Chełmońska-Soyta, Ph.D., V.D.	18
13.	Laboratory of Molecular Biology of Microorganisms Acting Head: Professor Anna Pawlik, Ph.D.	19
14.	Laboratory of Signaling Proteins Acting Head: Professor Janusz Matuszyk, Ph.D.	21
15.	Laboratory of Clinical Immunology Head: Professor Andrzej Lange, M.D.	22
16.	Laboratory of Immunogenetics and Tissue Immunology Head: Professor Piotr Kuśnierczyk, Ph.D.	25
17.	Laboratory of Clinical Immunogenetics and Pharmacogenetics Head: Professor Katarzyna Bogunia-Kubik, Ph.D.	27
18.	Laboratory of Molecular and Cellular Immunology Head: Professor Małgorzata Cebrat, Ph.D.	30
19.	Laboratory of Tumor Immunology Head: Professor Arkadiusz Miążek, Ph.D.	31
20.	Laboratory of Glycobiology and Cellular Interactions Head: Professor Danuta Duś, Ph.D.	32

LABORATORY OF BACTERIOPHAGES Head: Professor Andrzej Górski, M.D.

Presence of bacteriophages in the alimentary tract of patients with inflammatory bowel diseases

Determination of frequencies and titers of bacteriophage strains – own strain of *E. coli* from examined humans, *E. coli B*, *E. coli 1962* and *E. coli DSM 13127* – in the stools of 28 healthy volunteers and 79 patients with inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD) was performed. We also analyzed the dependence between the number of *E. coli* bacteria, frequencies and titers of coliphages in stools of patients and volunteers. The material from adult patients was obtained from the Clinic of Gastroenterology and Hepatology of the Academic Clinical Hospital of Wrocław.

Frequencies of coliphages detection and isolation of *E. coli* bacteria in stools of patients were lower as compared with volunteers. The titers of coliphages and *E. coli* bacteria in stools were higher in patients than in volunteers. A positive correlation between bacteria concentration, frequencies and titers of coliphages in stools of volunteers and patients with IBD was observed. The differences in results between volunteers and patients were statistically significant for frequencies of coliphages for the following strains: own *E. coli* and *E. coli* DSM 13127.

Phage neutralization by sera of patients receiving phage therapy

The aim of our investigation was to verify whether phage therapy (PT) can induce antiphage antibodies. We determined antiphage activity of sera (AAS) from 176 patients of the Phage Therapy Unit (PTU) in Wrocław before and during PT and from 30 healthy volunteers using a neutralization test. The rate of phage inactivation (K) estimated the level of phages' neutralization by sera. Sera of 12 patients treated with the *S. aureus* MS-1 phage cocktail (consisting of phages 676/Ż, A5/80 and P4/6409) were examined for specific antiphage antibodies IgG, IgA and IgM by ELISA.

Low K rates were found in sera of volunteers as well as in patients before PT. High AAS was observed in 10.8% of patients treated with phages locally (n=17) or locally/orally (n=2) for 15 to 66 days of PT. High AAS was found in patients treated with some *S. aureus*, *P. aeruginosa*, *E. faecalis* and *S. marcescens* phages. Low K rates were observed during oral PT. These results suggest that AAS depends on the route of phage administration and phage type. The induction of AAS during or after PT does not exclude effectiveness of PT. Our

preliminary results from ELISA showed that sera of patients undergoing PT had higher levels of antiphage antibodies during treatment (independently of route of phage administration and clinical outcome of phage therapy). Increasing absorbance during PT was found to be significant (p<0.05) except those obtained for *S. aureus* P4/6409 phage for IgG and IgA and corresponded with significantly higher K rates measured by the neutralization test.

In vitro study on the cytotoxic and antibacterial activity of some Pseudomonas bacteriophages using a cell culture model

The aim of the study was to work out *in vitro* conditions for testing cytotoxic and antibacterial bacteriophage activity in a cell culture infection model. The antibacterial effect of three therapeutic phages used for treatment of *Pseudomonas* infections (119x, F-8, and W-31) applied in the form of phage lysates was tested against four *P. aeruginosa* strains isolated from patients admitted to the Phage Therapy Unit in Wroclaw. L929 (mouse fibroblasts) and HACAT (human keratinocytes) cell line cultures on 96-well plates were applied for the tests. After 24 hours of their coincubation in the presence of bacteria and phages the cytopathic effect of bacteria on the cells (on a scale of 0-4) and the intensity of infection (on a scale of 0-3) was assessed under the microscope. The lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) test was also used for quantification of cell viability.

A very differentiated cytopathic effect of the bacteria (at comparable titers) was observed: from intensive cell lysis to intensive infection without any changes in cell morphology. A phage cytoprotective effect was observed when their initial titer was 100 times higher than that of bacteria. Interestingly, phages which did not reveal activity against one of the used *P. aeruginosa* strains in the phage typing test were able to efficiently protect the cell culture against infection with this bacteria. No significant cytotoxicity of the phage lysates was observed. The developed cell culture infection model might be useful for screening phage activity and their selection for application for phage therapy independently of the standard phage typing procedure and for assessment of the virulence/cytopathicity of the bacterial strains *in vitro*.

Combined anticancer and antibacterial activity of bacteriophages engineered with phage display

Dynamic development of novel anticancer strategies has also applied bacteriophages: bacterial viruses are proposed as drug carriers and/or display platforms for various anticancer agents. Phage display has become a powerful technology for selecting and amplifying

peptides; it is also proposed as a relatively cheap and easy technology for production of active peptides in bulk amounts. Peptides (or proteins) can be presented on the surface of phage capsids as a result of molecular engineering. The potential of peptides in cancer treatment is evident due to many studies evolving therapeutic strategies targeting the progression of tumor growth or metastasis formation. Peptides that can target cancer cells or interfere with their functions without affecting normal cells are being developed as an alternative strategy to conventional chemotherapy. At the same time, bacteriophage-based platforms or carriers maintain their natural antibacterial activity that is necessary for phage amplification. We applied an in vivo BALB/c mouse model of 4T1 tumor growth accompanied by surgical wound infection to test this combined activity. The wounds were located in the areas of tumors. Bacteriophages (T4) were modified with anticancer YIGSR peptides by phage display and injected intraperitoneally. As a result, tumor growth was decreased in mice treated with YIGSR-displaying phages. The acuteness of wounds, bacterial load and inflammatory markers in phage-treated mice were markedly decreased. Thus, engineered bacteriophages provide a solution for combined antibacterial and anticancer treatment due to combination of their natural and engineered activity. Both aspects should be considered in potential applications of phages as phage display platforms or drug carriers. Combining anticancer (engineered) and antibacterial (natural) phage activity in therapies offers a novel solution for the medicine.

Results of grant activities

A purified stabilized preparation containing staphylococcal phage A5W/80ppf with decreased contamination with other phages and plasmid DNA for use on wounds and skin for experimental treatment was obtained on a production scale under GMP conditions. Comparison of clinical results of the experimental phage therapy in patients with chronic bacterial infections did not reveal that the application of cocktails of staphylococcal phages was superior to the monovalent phage preparations.

DEPARTMENT OF IMMUNOCHEMISTRY Head: Professor Czesław Ługowski, Ph.D.

Laboratory of Microbial Immunochemistry and Vaccines Head: Professor Czesław Ługowski, Ph.D.

Biochemical characteristics of macromolecules involved in immunological processes. Immunochemical studies of bacterial endotoxins

Infections by Gram-negative multidrug-resistant (MDR) bacteria represent an increasing health care problem worldwide. While there are still some new antibiotics with some degree of efficacy against Gram-positive bacteria, the pipeline of novel drugs being developed to treat Gram-negative pathogens is essentially empty. The potential spread of MDR pathogens and mortality are therefore similar to those associated with infectious diseases in the pre-antibiotic era. A particular concern is the recent emergence of clonal lineages that can balance the normally mutually exclusive phenotypic properties of being MDR with the retention of high virulence potential, a feature that is generally unusual in MDR strains.

The *Escherichia coli* lineage sequence type 131 (ST131)-O25b:H4 is a globally distributed multidrug-resistant clone responsible for a great proportion of extraintestinal infections. This clone alone is responsible for >10% of all extraintestinal *E. coli* infections and accounts for the greatest majority of *E. coli* strains that are resistant to clinically relevant antibiotics. The vast majority of ST131-O25b isolates are resistant to fluoroquinolones. Moreover, approximately 50% of the isolates producing an extended-spectrum β-lactamase (ESBL) that confers resistance to all β-lactam antibiotics, except the carbapenems, originate from this clone. Even more alarming, there are several recent reports that describe representative strains of this lineage expressing various carbapenemases. Consequently, infections by ST131-O25b:H4 strains are a growing concern, with very limited therapeutic options. The obvious pathogenic success of this lineage is conferred by the MDR phenotype and retained virulence potential. However, the range of factors contributing to its virulence still has to be fully elucidated.

Driven by the significant medical needs associated with this successful pathogenic lineage, we were involved in studies aimed at generation of murine monoclonal antibodies (MAbs) against lipopolysaccharide (LPS) of *E. coli* (STI131)-O25b in order to develop quick diagnostic tests. Structural analysis of *E. coli* O25b LPS was important prerequisite for these studies. The structure of O-antigen was elucidated using chemical and instrumental methods. Based on comparative analysis by nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) and mass spectrometry, the *N*-acetyl-fucose in the O25a O-antigen had been replaced by *O*-acetyl

rhamnose in the O25b repeating unit. The genetic determinants responsible for this structural variation were identified by aligning the corresponding genetic loci and were confirmed by *trans*-complementation of a rough mutant by the sub-serotype-specific fragments of the *rfb* operons.

Murine monoclonal antibodies were generated by immunizing mice with whole killed nonencapsulated ST131-O25b *E. coli* cells and screening hybridoma supernatants for binding to purified LPS molecules obtained from an *E. coli* ST131-O25b clinical isolate. The MAbs selected for further study bound to the surface of live *E. coli* O25b strains irrespective of the capsular type expressed, while they did not bind to bacteria or purified LPS from other serotypes, including the related classical O25 antigen (O25a). Using these specific MAbs, a latex bead-based agglutination assay was developed that has greater specificity and is quicker and simpler than the currently available typing methods. The high specificities of these MAbs can be explained by the novel structure of the O25b repeating unit elucidated in this article.

Laboratory of Glycoconjugate Immunochemistry Head: Professor Hubert Krotkiewski, Ph.D.

Immunochemical and genetic studies on human glycophorin and other proteins active in the immune system

Purification and characterization of camel glycophorins

Glycophorins are heavily glycosylated proteins incorporated into erythrocyte membranes. Their biological function is unknown, but it seems they take part in creation of the glycocalyx, which is responsible for the elasticity of erythrocyte membranes. Among animal glycophorins characterized so far there are no camel glycophorins. Camels are important animals for the economy of Sub-Saharan countries, and the major threat for camels is surra, a disease caused by Trypanosoma evansi. Because in cooperation with INSERM_U665 we plan to obtain naked eye visible agglutination (NEVA) reagents in order to detect T. evansi infection, characterization and cloning of camel glycophorins would make a good start for such a reagent. Erythrocytes of the dromedary camel were a gift from Dr. Carlos Guthierrez (University of Las Palmas de Gran Canaria), and glycophorins were obtained by a phenol extraction method. Proteins were fractionated on a Sephadex G-200 column in 1% SDS. SDS-PAGE showed the presence of three bands stained with the PAS method, which were called glycophorins X (29 and 49 kDa), Y (34 and 62 kDa) and Z (108 kDa). In order to evaluate the structures of glycans present on glycophorins, we used lectin blotting with the following biotinylated lectins: Phaseolus vulgaris (PHA-E), Aleuria aurantia (AAL) and Arachis hypogaea (PNA). PHA-E is specific N-glycans with structure to a

Gal β 1 \rightarrow 4GlcNAc β 1 \rightarrow 2Man, AAL recognizes Fuc α 1 \rightarrow 6GlcNAc, while PNA binds O-glycans with the Gal β 1 \rightarrow 3GalNAc sequence. We found that glycophorins X and Z contain O-linked glycans with the Gal β 1 \rightarrow 3GalNAc sequence, while glycophorin Y contains only N-linked oligosaccharides. Glycophorin Z contains both types of oligosaccharides. In order to sequence N-terminal fragments of camel glycophorins, they were separated by SDS-PAGE and transferred to PVDF membrane. A preliminary attempt to sequence failed, probably because N-terminal amino acids are blocked. Thus, we plan to analyze peptides obtained by trypsin digestion of purified glycophorins by mass spectrometry.

Interaction of CEA N-terminal domain with endotoxin from Plesiomonas shigelloides

Carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) is a cell surface glycoprotein attached to the membrane via a GPI anchor. It is composed of seven immunoglobulin-like domains: N-domain (IgV-like) followed by six internal domains A1B1A2B2A3B3 (IgC-like) containing conserved disulphide bridges. CEA is a member of the CEA-related cell adhesion molecule family (CEACAM) and belongs to the immunoglobulin supergene family (IgSF).

CEA is known as a tumor-associated antigen in colon, lung and breast adenocarcinomas. Therefore, the protein is used as a biomarker of tumor progression and metastasis in long-term treatment of cancer patients. However, the biological function of CEA is still unclear. CEA also acts as a receptor for some bacterial pathogens such as *Escherichia coli*, *Haemophilus influenzae* and *Neisseria sp.* Opa proteins expressed by *Neisseria sp.* are bound to the CEA N-terminal domain, which, we suppose, may also be involved in recognition by other bacteria.

In our work we focused on interaction of the CEA N-terminal domain with the main surface antigen of Gram-negative bacteria, lipopolysaccharide (LPS) of *Plesiomonas shigelloides*. It was found using dot blot, ELISA and surface plasmon resonance techniques that the recombinant CEA N-domain interacted with LPS isolated from *Plesiomonas shigelloides* and *Escherichia coli*. The interaction between the protein and LPS involved lipid A, the most conserved part of the LPS. The N-domain was found to contain two potential LPS-binding sites. The first one was in the B strand (¹⁵KEVLLLVH²²) and the second one in the loop (³⁵KGERVDGNR⁴³) between the C and C' strands. Screening of LPS isolated from various *P. shigelloides* strains by dot blot revealed that two LPS, 85/89 and 144/92, did not interact with the N-domain. The study of the LPS preparations by mass spectrometry and light scattering showed that the lipid A of the first LPS was degraded while the second LPS was highly aggregated, possibly giving false-negative results.

The results presented here may help to clarify the biological function of CEA protein as a possible scavenger of bacterial components. It is possible that CEA could remove LPS from dead and/or dividing bacteria present in human colon.

Laboratory of General Immunochemistry

Head: Professor Maria Janusz, Ph.D.

Studies on the mechanism of action of proline-rich polypeptide complex (PRP)

Studies on the effect of PRP and its nonapeptide constituent (NP) on brain derived nerve growth factor (BDNF) secretion by U87 astrocyte cell line cells

It was shown in our previous studies that among the multidirectional activity of proline-rich polypeptide complex (PRP) and its nonapeptide constituent the most important seems to be a combination of immunoregulatory and antioxidative effects. The role of PRP in the development of the immune and cognitive function allowed it to be provided as orally administered Colostrinin tablets in the case of Alzheimer's disease (AD). In AD pathogenesis the main role is played by astrocytes and microglial cells. Astrocytes secrete trophic factors – nerve growth (NGF) and brain derived nerve growth factor (BDNF) – which are important for the control, development and function of the nerve tissue. In neurodegenerative processes the lowered secretion of trophic factors is observed, especially in the hippocampus region.

In our previous study we found that regulation of NGF secretion can be an additional neuroprotective effect of PRP/NP in the case of AD. In the present study the effect on BDNF secretion by the U87 astrocyte cell line was studied. It was found that U87 cells were able to secrete constitutive BDNF, but at a low level. 26 kDa and 36 kDa pro isoforms were identified in lysates and supernatants collected from cell cultures. No statistically significant influence of PRP and NP on BDNF level was observed.

It can be concluded that regulation of brain derived nerve growth factor secreted by astrocytes is not an element of possible therapeutic effects of PRP/NP in neurodegenerative processes.

8

Proline-rich polypeptide complex (PRP) and its nonapeptide fragment (NP) influence neuritogenesis and protect against toxic effect of amyloid β 1-42

The results obtained within the grant project demonstrate that both proline-rich polypeptide complex (PRP) and its constituent nonapeptide (NP) are able to regulate neuroprotective processes and mimic nerve growth factor (NGF). It was found that PRP/NP by activation of the nNOS-dependent signaling pathway induces an increase of intracellular NO level. In consequence, cyclic guanyl cyclase is activated and increases the concentration of cyclic GMP and ERK 1/2 kinase activation. These kinases are engaged in activation of transcription factors which control gene expression of proteins playing a role, among others, in survival and neuritogenesis. These effects can shed some light on the mechanism of the therapeutic effect of PRP/Colostrinin in the case of Alzheimer' disease.

The results obtained in PC12 and U87 cell models also indicate that:

- PRP and NP are able to protect cells against toxic doses of Aβ 1-42;
- the intracellular level of NO induced by $A\beta$ 1-42 was lowered when cells were treated with PRP/NP, and a tendency to reduce the level of nitrated proteins was observed;
- the lack of relationship between NO secreted and expression of nNOS suggested that peptides influence enzyme activity rather than its level;
- PRP and NP are able to induce regulation of expression, synthesis and extracellular secretion of NGF in the human astrocyte cell line U87.

DEPARTMENT OF EXPERIMENTAL ONCOLOGY

Head: Professor Leon Strządała, Ph.D.

Laboratory of Tumor Molecular Immunobiology Head: Professor Leon Strządała, Ph.D.

Induction of apoptosis in canine leukemia/lymphoma cell lines

Hematopoietic neoplasms are the third most common type of tumor diagnosed in the dog, accounting for approximately 8–9% of all canine malignant tumors. Among them lymphoma, which accounts for about 80% of all lymphoid malignancies, is the most commonly diagnosed. Canine neoplasms show strong similarities to their analogs in humans with respect to morphology, tumor genetics, disease progression and response to therapies. The dog

9

represents a good large animal model for the study of lymphoma in people, including investigation of new therapeutic agents, because of the presence of spontaneous disease in contrast to experimentally induced disease, in xenograft and genetically modified mouse models.

In order to develop specific and targeted anticancer therapies, a panel of different types of neoplastic cell lines is required. Until recently, investigations of spontaneous canine lymphoma and leukemia were limited by a lack of validated, well-characterized and widely available cell lines. So far, a few canine cell lines have been described in the literature. We established and characterized two novel canine cell lines: a B-type leukemia cell line and an NK/T leukemia cell line.

For investigating therapeutic methods and cancer biology, many different cancer cell lines are used. However, chemosensitivity studies carried out on established cell lines do not always reflect the actual patient's situation. Therefore, beside the studies using cell lines, primary culture studies predominate because, in contrast to the cell lines, they better reflect the actual type of malignant cells and their sensitivity to drugs. This is particularly important in those types of cancer which are extremely heterogeneous, such as lymphoma.

The aim of our study was to test the chemosensitivity of canine primary and established leukemia/lymphoma cells (using a modified MTT assay) to the spectrum of cytostatic drugs commonly used in therapy of dogs, as well as to compare the results with those obtained from annexin V and propidium iodide staining. All tested substances exhibited dose-dependent inhibitory effects on the proliferation of the examined cell lines with a different level of apoptosis induction. Vincristine and doxorubicin strongly reduced the viability of canine cell lines, whereas cyclophosphamide induced the highest level of apoptosis.

It was found that T cells show a significantly lower sensitivity to the majority of tested substances than B cells. These results correlate with those of clinical investigation, which showed that in the case of T-cell canine lymphoma, the prognosis value is worse and the pharmacotherapy is poor. The use of in vitro assays, such as the MTT or annexin V/Pi assay, in predicting response to treatment of lymphoma in dogs may be a useful therapeutic tool. Chemosensitivity tests, molecular biology and pharmacogenomic techniques can significantly contribute to improving the treatment outcomes for individual canine patients.

Laboratory of Experimental Anticancer Therapy Head: Professor Joanna Wietrzyk, Ph.D.

Studies on the mechanisms of tumor progression and metastasis and on the effects of experimental antitumor therapy

Anticancer activity of tyrosine kinase inhibitor combined with docetaxel and vitamin D_3 derivative PRI-2191 in A549 non-small cell lung cancer model in vivo

Malignant cells, including lung cancer cells, release many growth factors that are involved in tumor vasculature formation; hence tumor angiogenesis is one of the targets for anticancer therapy. Blocking the signal transduction pathway of VEGF, the main angiogenic mediator, results in endothelial cell apoptosis, which in turn blocks angiogenesis. Endothelial cells appeared to be affected also by chemotherapy, initially designed to destroy cancer cells. In our study we decided to combine tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI) with VEGF receptor inhibitory activity, together with docetaxel combined with the vitamin D₃ analog (PRI-2191), in order to strengthen the effectiveness of proposed therapy in a non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) model *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Our recent results showed that A549 cells exposed to TKI and/or docetaxel secreted a lower level of VEGF-A than control cells. The strongest effect was observed when a third compound, calcitriol or PRI-2191, was introduced. A similar effect was observed in tumors harvested from mice treated with above-mentioned compounds. Moreover, this repression of VEGF-A secretion by A549 lung cancer cells resulted from upregulation of p53 and p21 expression in these cells.

1,4- dimethylpyridinium chloride (1,4-DMP), antiplatelet drug (clopidogrel) and a relevant chemotherapeutic as combined treatment in metastasis prevention

Efficiency of metastasis depends mostly on events occurring while cancer cells migrate through the unfavorable environment of flowing blood. Interference with cancer cell and platelet interactions may lead to decreased survival of migrating cells and consequently to a lower number of developed metastases. Mice bearing metastatic prostate, breast or colon tumors were treated with 1,4- dimethylpyridinium chloride (1,4-DMP), which modulates the process of prostacyclin synthesis, an antiplatelet drug (clopidogrel) and a relevant chemotherapeutic. Antitumour and antimetastatic activity together with a systemic toxicity of the proposed treatment regimes were assessed. Results of the present studies indicate that regardless of the tumor type, neither 1,4-DMP nor clopidogrel influenced the growth of primary tumors. However, when applied with 5-fluorouracil, cyclophosphamide or docetaxel, 1,4-DMP increased their activity by 20-30% (P<0.05 vs. control). When chemotherapeutic agents were administered with clopidogrel, the observed tumor growth inhibition was slightly

reduced; however, animals among the groups receiving such a combined treatment developed fewer lung metastases. Furthermore, 1,4-DMP diminished elevated blood concentrations of alanine and aspartate aminotransferases, induced by chemotherapy, which may suggest its potential liver protective function.

The present studies indicate that a vascular-oriented treatment, supplemented with drugs having anti-platelet activity, may beneficially influence the overall anticancer effectiveness and alleviate side effects of selected chemotherapeutic drugs, applied in tumors of commonly occurring types.

This study was supported by the European Union from the resources of the European Regional Development Fund under the Innovative Economy Programme (grant coordinated by JCET-UJ, No. POIG.01.01.02-00-069/09).

Laboratory of Biomedical Chemistry Head: Professor Janusz Boratyński, Ph.D., Eng.

The Laboratory of Biomedical Chemistry is a part of the Integrated Laboratory of Experimental Oncology and Innovative Technologies – "NeoLek". In the laboratory, studies on chemical modifications of biological macromolecules and physicochemical properties of bacteriophages are carried out. Studies are focused on modifications of carriers with biologically active substances. Proteins and oligosaccharides, for example hydroxyethyl sucrose, are used as carriers. Drug conjugates (folic acid derivatives) have higher antitumor activity than unmodified drugs. Studies on binding of boron clusters with carriers are carried out as a result of involvement in development of boron neutron capture therapy (BNCT). Lysozyme modifications with boron clusters showed that 128 arginine and 51 threonine residues are preferentially modified. Studies on chemical modifications of polypeptides with defined biological activity are conducted. Physicochemical properties of bacteriophages are also studied.

In the middle of 2015, NeoLek Laboratory will obtain the GLP certificate. Biological activity of preparations is studied in the Laboratory of Experimental Antitumor Therapy, which is a part of NeoLek. The Lab. of Biomedical Chemistry is equipped with certified research apparatus: HPLC MS/MS with a set of detectors (DAD, fluorescence, corona), UV/Vis spectrophotometer, CD spectrophotometer, viscometer, scales and centrifuges.

Beside basic research, the laboratory collaborates with companies, for example Adamed, Galena and Finepharm.

The laboratory is a place where students can carry out their research for the Bachelor or Master Thesis.

DEPARTMENT OF IMMUNOLOGY OF INFECTIOUS DISEASES Head: Professor Andrzej Gamian, Ph.D.

Laboratory of Medical Microbiology

Head: Professor Andrzej Gamian, Ph.D.

Studies on the pathogenesis of some diseases of bacterial etiology and the role of bacterial surface glycoconjugates and protein antigens in the immune response

The laboratory aims at the clarification of pathogenicity mechanisms of diseases with bacterial etiology, the role of bacterial glycoconjugates and proteins in the immune processes, the structure and functions of bacterial exopolysaccharides and endotoxins. Regarding the studies on the relation of structure of surface antigens of probiotic exopolysaccharides and their role in immune system activation, the structure of polysaccharides (PS) isolated from Lactobacillus rhamnosus LOCK 0900 was determined. One of its polymers (I), with a high molecular mass of 830 kDa, is a branched heteropolysaccharide with a unique heptasaccharide repeating unit and pyruvic acid, whereas the second one (II) has a low average molecular mass of 18 kDa and contains a pentasaccharide repeating unit and phosphorus. Both PS neither induce cytokine production and maturation of mouse bone marrow-derived dendritic cells nor induce signaling through TLR2/TLR4 receptors. Exposure to PSI enhanced IL-10 production induced by L. plantarum WCFS1, while in contrast, PSII enhanced the production of IL-12p70. Thus PS are able to modulate the immune responses to third-party antigens. The ability to induce regulatory IL-10 by PSI opens up the possibility for its use in therapy of inflammatory conditions, such as IBD, whereas PSII might be useful in reverting the antigen-dependent Th2-skewed immune responses in allergies. Other studies revealed a new type of highly sensitive label-free sensor coated with T4 phage adhesin (gp37) which binds Escherichia coli B by recognizing its LPS. The biofunctionalization methodology is based on coating the surface with nickel ions capable of gp37 histidine tag reversible binding. For the first time, a recombinant adhesive phage protein has been used as a receptor molecule in a biosensing scheme. The sensor can measure bacterial contamination in real time and with high accuracy the adhesin binds E. coli B LPS in its native or denatured form. The binding is highly specific and irreversible. The applied procedure allows reusable biosensors to be obtained.

Laboratory of Virology Head: Professor Egbert Piasecki, Ph.D. Study on nonspecific immunity in viral infections

Scutellariae Radix (root of Scutellaria baicalensis) has a long history of application in traditional and modern herbal medications. The major components of Scutellariae Radix are baicalin, baicalein, wogonoside and wogonin. Accumulating evidence demonstrates that Scutellaria has immunomodulatory effects and possesses compelling anticancer potential. Treatment of peripheral blood leukocytes (PBLs) with Scutellaria baicalensis extract (SBE) enriched in baicalin reduced viability of PBLs obtained from patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL). SBE had no impact on the survival of healthy, control leukocytes. The immune system modulation by SBE resulted in increased production of IFN-γ in PBLs, and reduced TNF-α and IL-10 production in bone marrow cells (BMC), in ALL patients. SBE stimulated the nonspecific antiviral immunity, assessed by resistance of PBLs and BMC to vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) infection. SBE showed pro-apoptotic activity in the NALM-6 cell line (B-type human leukemia). The number of cells expressing annexin V increased from 6% in control cultures to 29% and 52% after treatment with 100 μg/ml and 200 μg/ml respectively. An increased percentage of apoptotic cells was observed when cells were treated with a corresponding concentration of baicalin. SBE enhanced apoptosis of PBLs in BMC of leukemic children. The percentage of PBLs that underwent apoptosis and mean annexin V expression increased from 11% in the control to 17% and 24% for the doses of 100 µg/ml and 200 µg/ml respectively. Importantly, SBE did not induce apoptosis of PBLs in the healthy, control group. The results were published in *International Immunopharmacology*, 2014; 23: 558-567.

The aim of the studies was to examine the potential immunoregulatory activity of Ginkgo biloba extract (EGb 761) on cytokine production, one of the mechanisms of innate antiviral immunity, by human peripheral blood leukocytes (PBLs) ex vivo. PBLs isolated from healthy blood donors were treated with different, nontoxic concentrations of EGb 761. Levels of different cytokines (TNF- α , IFN- α , IFN- γ , IL-10 and IL-12), important in innate immunity development, were determined by ELISA. EGb 761, apart from strengthening of the antiviral response, showed a differential impact on cytokine production by human PBLs ex vivo. It decreased the level of TNF- α and IFN- α but strongly increased the level of IFN- γ in PBLs stimulated by vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) and non-stimulated PBLs. The extract reduced the production of IL-10 and IL-12 by human PBLs. The results were discussed and compared

with previously published findings on the activity of the synthetic drug donepezil. According to the results from the present study and our previous investigations, we report an immunoregulatory effect of EGb 761 on production of different cytokines by human PBLs ex vivo, which indicates the possibility of using the drug for the treatment of many immune deficiencies or infectious diseases through strengthening of innate immunity reactions. The results were published in *Central European Journal of Biology*, 2014; 9: 359-366.

The main aim of this study was to determine the association between serum antibodies against adenoviruses (AdVs) type 5, 31 and 36 (as a positive control) and obesity in Polish adults and to evaluate the association between anti-AdV antibody status and body mass index (BMI), anthropometric measures, serum lipids and C-reactive protein (CRP). The study included 200 adults, both obese and non-obese. The serum neutralization test was used to assess the presence of anti-AdV antibodies and routine serum chemistry, leptin and CRP were evaluated. The prevalence of anti-AdV5, 31, 36 antibodies ranged from 6.8% to 31.3%. We demonstrated an association between immune response to AdV infection (by establishment of anti-AdV31 and anti-AdV36 antibodies in serum) and obesity in adult Poles. Higher BMI values and WHR (waist to hip ratio) or waist circumference were found in infected versus uninfected (p<0.05). All AdV-positive subjects were older than uninfected controls, but sex had no influence on the prevalence of antibodies. We noted that the presence of anti-AdV31 and 36 antibodies was associated with changes in lipid metabolism but kind and severity of lipid metabolism disturbances differed due to the type of infecting virus. Neither elevated CRP nor decreased leptin levels were related to infectobesity. Infections of AdV31 and AdV36 may be associated with obesity in the Polish population and AdV5 is not linked with human obesity. The results were published in *Inter. J. of Virology and Molecular Biology*, 2014; 3: 1-8.

DEPARTMENT OF EXPERIMENTAL THERAPY Head: Professor Michał Zimecki, Ph.D.

Laboratory of Immunobiology
Head: Professor Michał Zimecki, Ph.D.
Studies on the mechanism of action of a cyclic tetrapeptide

Studies on elucidation of the mechanism of action of a cyclic tetrapeptide were continued in several *in vitro* and *in vivo* models including: proliferative response of mouse splenocytes to concanavalin A, proliferation of IL-2-dependent CTLL-2 cells, growth of epidermal A-431

cell line, lipopolysaccharide-induced cytokine production in human whole cell cultures, foot pad carrageenan-induced inflammation and carrageenan-induced inflammation in an air pouch model in mice. The studies were particularly aimed at determination of the role of prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) and its cellular receptors in the anti-inflammatory actions of the tetrapeptide. In these experiments we measured concentrations of inducible PGE2 and evaluated effects of blocking EP3 and EP4 receptors. The results indicate that the anti-inflammatory action of the tetrapeptide is dependent on prostaglandin signaling. In the culture of A-431 cells the production of PGE2 was inhibited. Depending on the model used, we also found that in mediation of the anti-inflammatory actions of the tetrapeptide EP4 and/or EP3 are involved. In addition, parallel experiments conducted in another laboratory proved that the tetrapeptide is a COX-1 and COX-2 inhibitor.

Preliminary studies on susceptibility of mouse splenocytes from young and aged mice to viral infection

We showed that B-cell enriched splenocyte populations from old (more than 12-months) mice were either equally or more resistant to viral infection with EMCV in culture as determined by the survival rate of cells and titer of the virus. In addition, we demonstrated protective, antiviral actions of several types of lactoferrins (LF) such as native bovine and human and recombinant human and mouse in both age categories.

Mechanism of autocrine regulation in HeLa cells, based on the interaction of endogenous bone morphogenetic protein (BMP)

The main purpose of the study was to determine whether elevated levels of ALP and SmadP result from activation of specific receptors by endogenous isoforms of BMP-2 and BMP-4. As previously shown, HeLa cells synthesize and secrete several isoforms of BMPs, and two of them, BMP-2 and BMP-4, possess biological activity *in vitro*. High activity of specific BMP receptor genes and a high level of the signaling molecule – phosphorylated Smad (SmadP) – formed after binding of BMP to a specific receptor were found in HeLa cells. High amounts of phosphorylated Smad and alkaline phosphatase (ALP) synthesized in HeLa cells and resulting from SmadP action on the ALP gene via the cascade effect were significantly diminished after addition of specific monoclonal antibodies against BMP-2 and BMP-4 to the cell culture. The fact of conducting the experiments in serum-free medium led to both disappearance of SmadP and significant lowering of the ALP level after addition of

antibodies. The described results directly showed that HeLa-derived BMPs can affect HeLa cells in an autocrine manner.

The effect of nickel ions, released during the process of corrosion of metal parts of braces, on the patient

The aim of this study was to verify the effect of nickel on a live organism and demonstrate the differences between tissues in the synthesis of metallothionein. Metallothionein plays an important role in immobilization and removal of toxic metals from organisms. The study was conducted on 25 domestic pigs. Thirteen of them possessed the implants from nickel-containing alloys in the oral cavity. Tissue samples from liver, lungs and brain were chosen for the examinations. The liver is an organ of first line defense against toxins and possesses the capacity of regeneration. The lung and the brain are very specialized organs without the ability to regenerate. Statistically significant differences in metallothionein synthesis were noted between the study group and the control group of animals. Significant differences were also noted between the studied tissues. The highest activity for the metallothionein gene was noted in the liver tissue. However, some differences in the activity of that gene in lung and brain tissues, between the studied groups, were also observed.

Laboratory of Immunopathology Head: Professor Irena Frydecka, M.D, Ph.D. Cytokine gene polymorphisms and serum IL-6 level in schizophrenia patients

An immense body of evidence indicates that dysfunction of the immune system is implicated in the etiology of schizophrenia. Given the strong genetic background of schizophrenia, it might be assumed that aberrant production of cytokines may be the consequence of genetic factors.

This study aimed at investigating the association between schizophrenia susceptibility and selected functional polymorphisms in genes encoding cytokines including interleukin-2 (IL2 -330T>G), interleukin-6 (IL-6 -174G>C), interferon- γ (IFNG +874T>A) as well as for the first time transforming growth factor- β 1 (TGFB1 +869T>C and +915G>C). Moreover, the influence of serum IL-6 level together with the IL-6 polymorphism -174G/C and high sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP) levels on clinical manifestation and cognition in schizophrenia patients were investigated.

There was a significant difference in the genotype distribution and allelic frequency of TGFB1 +869T>C between patients with schizophrenia and healthy controls (p < 0.05). The risk of schizophrenia was higher in carriers of the T allele (CT+TT genotypes) than in CC homozygotes. Given the gender differences in incidence of schizophrenia, we conducted separate analyses of male and female participants, and we found that the association was significant in females.

Serum IL-6 and hsCRP levels were significantly higher in schizophrenia patients in comparison with healthy controls. Both hsCRP and IL-6 levels were associated with insidious psychosis onset, duration of illness and chronic schizophrenia course with deterioration. After adjustment for age, education level, number of years of completed education, illness duration, total PANSS score, depression severity and chlorpromazine equivalent, there was still a positive association between IL-6 and hsCRP levels and worse cognitive performance. The IL-6 -174G/C polymorphism did not influence IL-6 level, but it was associated with the severity of positive symptoms. Our results suggest that elevated IL-6 levels may play a role in cognitive impairment and serve as a potential inflammatory biomarker of deterioration in schizophrenia.

Proliferative response of peripheral blood malignant lymphocytes from CLL patients with low and high CTLA-4 expression to ex vivo stimulation

Our previous study indicated that the inhibitory CTLA-4 molecule might be an important antiproliferative factor in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL). The present study was undertaken to investigate whether CLL patients with low and high CTLA-4 expression differ in the responsiveness of their cells to ex vivo induced proliferation.

The expression of the CTLA-4 molecule, the cell cycle regulators of G0/G1 phase (cyclins D2 and D3, and p27^{KIP1}) and Ki-67 protein in peripheral blood CD19⁺CD5⁺ cells of 38 CLL patients before and after 24 h and 72 h of culture in the presence of immunostimulators (DSP30+rIL-2) were determined by flow cytometry.

In the low CTLA-4-expressing CLL group, ex vivo stimulation did not change the median proportions of CTLA-4⁺ cells. In contrast, in the high CTLA-4-expressing CLL group the stimulating culture resulted in a gradual decrease in the median proportions of CTLA-4⁺ cells, which became comparable to those observed in the low CTLA-4-expressing CLL group. In both groups of CLL patients, ex vivo stimulation led to a gradual decrease in the median percentages of p27^{KIP1}-positive lymphocytes, a significant decline in the median frequencies of cyclin D2⁺ and cyclin D3⁺ cells after 72 h of culture, and a marked increase in the median frequencies of Ki-67⁺ cells. Furthermore, no significant differences in the expression of studied cell cycle regulators and Ki-67 protein between the two groups of CLL patients at each time point tested were found. Our data indicate that leukemic cells in the low CTLA-4-expressing CLL group as well as in the high CTLA-4-expressing CLL group do not differ in their responsiveness to ex vivo induced proliferation.

Laboratory of Reproductive Immunology

Head: Professor Anna Chełmońska-Soyta, Ph.D., V.D.

Immunological mechanisms associated with reproductive processes in health and disease

Effects of supply of retinoic acid (ATRA) TCD4 lymphocyte functions in female reproductive cycle and early pregnancy

The aim of this study was to determine the changes in the proteome of TCD4 cells of non-pregnant females and changes in the frequency of TCD4 FOXP3 lymphocytes in the female cycle and early pregnancy under the influence of retinoic acid *in vivo*.

The study was conducted in two independent experiments. In the first experiment, non-pregnant C57/BL6 females were treated with retinoic acid (ATRA) orally at a dose of 0.5 mg/kg for a period of two weeks. The study was conducted in collaboration with the Department of Physiology, Cytobiology and Proteomics, Faculty of Biotechnology and Animal Breeding, West Pomeranian University of Technology in Szczecin. CD4 lymphocytes were isolated from the spleen by magnetic sorting. Proteomic studies were performed by 2D technique with subsequent identification of proteins by mass spectrometry. It was found that oral intake of retinoic acid significantly alters the expression of 15 proteins in CD4 lymphocytes, primarily of the group of proteins involved in cellular cytoskeletal organization and cellular metabolism. In a second experiment, ATRA was administered i.p. to transgenic females C57BL6 Foxp3GFP at a dose of 0.25 mg/kg b.w. during the estrus cycle and in early pregnancy.

The frequency of Treg lymphocytes was determined in the spleen, lymph nodes and the uterus. It was found that intraperitoneal supply of ATRA increases the frequency of Treg in the spleen and lymph nodes in mice in the preimplantation period of pregnancy, which may be a prerequisite for further studies on modulation of the tolerogenic immune response in the peripheral preimplantation period of pregnancy.

DEPARTMENT OF MICROBIOLOGY

Laboratory of Molecular Biology of Microorganisms Acting Head: Professor Anna Pawlik, Ph.D. Replication of bacterial chromosomes Polyketide synthesis and its regulation in Streptomyces

The research activity of the Laboratory of Molecular Biology of Microorganisms (LMBM) is focused on two scientific issues: i/ replication of bacterial chromosomes, and ii/ polyketide synthesis in *Streptomyces*.

DNA replication is an important event of the bacterial cell cycle. The decision to initiate DNA replication is crucial for the cell cycle progression, and depends on both intracellular and environmental signals. In LMBM we are interested in mechanisms of initiation and regulation of bacterial chromosome replication, with special emphasis on characterization of the key factors involved in initiation complex (orisome) formation, namely DnaA (the

initiator protein) and oriC (the origin of chromosome replication). We also aim at the identification and functional analysis of regulators which control replication and coordinate the initiation with the cell cycle. We are especially focused on orisome formation in epsilonproteobacteria, amongst which studies on pathogenic Helicobacter pylori are the most advanced. Recent analyses allowed us to map all DnaA-binding sites at bipartite H. pylori oriC. The most intriguing for oriC assembly are the topology-sensitive DnaA boxes (ts boxes) localized at oriC2 - they are exclusively bound when DNA is supercoiled. The topologysensitive DnaA-oriC interaction is unique for H. pylori and suggests that H. pylori orisome formation might be regulated by the control of DNA superhelicity. In addition we found that all three DnaA boxes at oriC2 play important roles in orisome assembly and subsequent DNA unwinding, but different functions can be assigned to individual boxes. This suggests that the H. pylori oriC may be functionally divided, similar to what was described recently for Escherichia coli oriC. We have also identified a novel factor – the HP1021 protein – which, in addition to HobA, controls initiation complex formation and activity of the orisome. HP1021 is an orphan response regulator which upon binding to oriC interferes with interaction between DnaA and its boxes, which, in consequence, inhibits DNA opening at the helically unstable DUE region. It is not known whether some features of orisome formation, thus far unique for *H. pylori*, are also important for orisome assembly in related species. Thus we aim to identify oriC regions and analyze orisome formation in a few other selected epsilonproteobacteria. These studies should allow us to propose the initiation mode of the chromosomes of the epsilonbacteria and to indicate the common and unique features for the whole class. We hope that studies on epsilonproteobacteria together with other studies conducted in our laboratory (such as those concerning initiation of Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus chromosome replication) will help to extend our knowledge beyond the mechanism of initiation of chromosome replication in E. coli.

Bacteria from the genus *Streptomyces* are potent producers of polyketides – a large class of bioactive compounds with extremely diverse structures and functions. They are synthesized as secondary metabolites by giant multienzyme complexes – polyketide synthases. The secondary metabolism of streptomycetes is launched in concert with morphological differentiation, and the regulatory network which governs these processes is best studied in the model organism *Streptomyces coelicolor* A3(2). Our work is focused on a polyketide synthase Cpk from *S. coelicolor* A3(2). Cpk is responsible for the synthesis of a yellow pigment coelimycin. Expression of *cpk* genes is tightly controlled by regulatory proteins encoded by the genes within the *cpk* cluster and probably by several pleiotropic regulators.

We have also found that type II thioesterase ScoT from *Streptomyces coelicolor* A3(2) is required for the production of coelimycin. No production of coelimycin was observed in cultures of the *sco*T disruption mutant. Polyketide production was restored upon complementation with an intact copy of the *sco*T gene. An enzymatic assay showed that ScoT thioesterase can hydrolyze a 12-carbon acyl chain but the activity is too low to play a role in product release from the polyketide synthase. We conclude that ScoT is an editing enzyme necessary to maintain the activity of polyketide synthase Cpk. We provide a HPLC-based method to measure the amount of coelimycin P2 in a culture medium.

Laboratory of Signaling Proteins

Acting Head: Professor Janusz Matuszyk, Ph.D.

Studies on proteins and signaling pathways involved in activation of proinflammatory transcription factors and the response to hypoxia

Tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) is the rate-limiting enzyme in synthesis of catecholamines such as dopamine, norepinephrine and epinephrine (adrenalin). Adenosine (produced from ATP) induces expression of the TH gene as well as synthesis of dopamine in PC12 rat pheochromocytoma cells. Results of our experiments indicate that phosphodiesterase 2 (PDE2) negatively regulates adenosine-induced transcription of the TH gene in PC12 cells. Studies have shown that the cGMP-stimulated PDE2 is involved in the atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP)-triggered reduction in the adenosine-induced accumulation of cAMP. Treatment of PC12 cells with 5,6-DM-cBIMP, a specific synthetic ligand for the GAF domains of PDE2, also reduced the cAMP level produced as a result of stimulation with adenosine. Moreover, the inhibition of PDE2 hydrolytic activity (using Bay 60-7550) abolished ANP (or 5,6-DM-cBIMP)-triggered reduction in the adenosine-induced production of the TH mRNA. The results of research also suggest that cAMP response element (CRE) present in the promoter region of the TH gene is involved in the adenosine-induced activation of the TH gene in PC12 cells, because introduction of a point mutation into the CRE motif in TH gene promoter region not only impairs the response to treatment with adenosine but also abolishes the inhibitory effect of ANP and 5,6-DM-cBIMP on activation of the TH gene promoter. Taken together, the results of our experiments suggest that enhancement of PDE2 hydrolytic activity may possibly lead to inhibition of CREB (the major CRE binding protein)mediated TH gene transcription in PC12 cells.

DEPARTMENT OF CLINICAL IMMUNOLOGY

Laboratory of Clinical Immunology Head: Professor Andrzej Lange, M.D.

Study on the pace of cellular immunity recovery in association with CNV sero-status in patients post-allo-HSCT

Laboratory surveillance of Herpes and polyoma viruses: results and clinical consequences Viral complications constitute one of the main threats after HSCT, especially in patients who received transplants from unrelated donors. Therefore, all patients transplanted in our institution were followed for viral reactivation events including HHV6, CMV, EBV, polyoma BK, and JC.

The study included 156 unrelated donor HSCTs. 90 and 66 patients received myeloablative or reduced intensity conditioning. All patients except 3 received antilymphocyte antibodies (ATG [142 patients] and Campath [21]). The latter patients received ganciclovir as a part of microbial prophylaxis (6 mg/kg b.w. for 5 days). Quantitative detection of Herpes virus DNA copies (real-time PCR) was performed routinely at one-week intervals shortly after transplant and then at one-month intervals unless required earlier.

Results. CMV reactivation events were less frequent shortly after transplant than at later times (14% vs. 27%, p=0.003, before and after 30 days post-HSCT). Patients positive for CMV DNA copies (detected at 30-100 days post-HSCT) had higher levels of CD8+CD57+ lymphocytes in the blood than counterparts lacking CMV reactivation at any time after transplant (18.92 +/- 2.14% vs. 8.36 +/- 1.50%, p=0.0075; 186×10^6 +/- 41.86×10^6 vs. 84.15 +/- 32.53×10^6 cells/L, p<0.001). CMV reactivation was associated with the presence of aGvHD grade II-IV (22/52 vs. 22/89, p=0.031).

In contrast to CMV, HHV6 reactivation events were rather more frequent in the early post-HSCT period than at later times (15% vs. 6%, p=0.096). Skin rash was frequent in HHV6-positive patients, but encephalitis was the main concern. Out of 12 encephalitis cases, 6 were HHV6-positive as compared to 22 positive cases out of 133 patients lacking encephalitis (p=0.015). EBV was seen at a similar frequency early and later post-HSCT and resulted in a higher percentage of CD4+CD57+ cells in the blood (3.00 +/- 0.58% vs. 1.42 +/- 0.27%, p=0.033; 56.045x10⁶ +/- 28.95x10⁶ cells/L vs. 8.89x10⁶ +/-2.39x10⁶ cells/L, p=0.005). EBV reactivation was seen more frequently in patients with aGvHD (15/52 vs. 13/75, p=0.044) and in those with encephalitis (6/12 vs. 21/130, p=0.004) or lymphoproliferative syndrome (7/16 vs. 19/130, p=0.004). Reactivation of polyoma viruses

differed in terms of BK (earlier, median 41 days post-HSCT) and JC (later, median 80 days post-HSCT).

Conclusion: CMV reactivation seen later after transplant and a lack of apparent clinical symptoms may be related to the effect of prophylactic and pre-emptive ganciclovir treatment. The prevalence of CD8+CD57+ lymphocytes in the blood of CMV-positive cases documented the impact of the infection on the immune system. An increase in the proportions and numbers of CD4+CD57+ lymphocytes is a rather novel observation and demonstrates the profound effect of the EBV virus on the lymph nodes.

Reactivation of either HHV6 or EBV constituted the main risk factor of encephalitis. EBV is associated with lymphoproliferative syndrome in spite of the fact that EBV DNA positivity is usually preemptively treated with anti-CD20 antibodies. Overall survival is only marginally affected by reactivation of Herpes viruses, likely due to the pre-emptive treatment followed according to routine laboratory blood work, which includes viral surveillance.

Study on the presence of diversity of immune responsiveness (Th1 vs Th17) and nTrex activity in post-HSCT patients

Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation from anti-CMV-IgG positive donors facilitated post-transplant immunological recovery, which may indicate that chronic CMV infection has an effect on the immune system. This can be seen in the recipients after reconstitution with donor lymphocytes. We evaluated the composition of lymphocytes at hematologic recovery in 99 patients with hematologic malignancies after HSCT.

Anti-CMV IgG seropositivity of the donor was associated with higher proportions of CD4+ $(102.050\pm17.247\times10^6 \text{ vs. } 227.963\pm304.858\times10^6 \text{ cells/l}, \text{ p=0.009})$ and CD4+CD25high $(1.589\pm0.218\times10^6 \text{ vs. } 3.456\pm0.436\times10^6 \text{ cells/l}, \text{ p=0.003})$ lymphocytes in the blood at hematologic recovery. The latter parameter exerted a diverse influence on the risk of aGvHD if low $(1.483\pm0.360\times10^6 \text{ vs. } 3.778\pm0.484\times10^6 \text{ cells/l}, \text{ p=0.001})$ and $de \ novo \ \text{cGvHD}$ if high $(3.778\pm0.780\times10^6 \text{ vs. } 2.042\pm0.261\times10^6 \text{ cells/l}, \text{ p=0.041})$. Higher values of CD4+ lymphocytes in patients who received transplants from anti-CMV-IgG-positive donors translated into a reduced demand for IgG support (23/63 vs. 19/33, p=0.048), and these patients also exhibited reduced susceptibility to CMV, EBV and/or HHV6 infection/reactivation (12/50 vs. 21/47, p=0.032). Finally, high levels $(\geq 0.4\%)$ of CD4+CD25high lymphocytes were significantly associated with better post-transplant survival (56% vs. 38%, 4-year survival, p=0.040).

Developing the technology of propagation of mesenchymal stem cells for use as a preemptive measure after HSCT

Marrow cells cultured for MSC include a population of cells expressing Oct4, Nanog and Sox2 genes, and this expression declines as the cells reach confluent growth.

Introduction: Bone marrow and mobilized blood constitute a convenient source of the hematopoietic progenitors used in HSCT. In the marrow, in addition to hematopoietic precursors, there reside cells giving rise to endothelial progenitors and stromal/mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) with multipotent characteristics. The latter cells have the ability to mitigate alloreactivity by a direct suppressive effect exerted upon lymphocytes. Therefore, cells reside in the marrow which directly interfere with the immune system and those which have pluripotent differentiation ability. Oct4 and Sox2 genes are essential for the pluripotency and self-renewal of embryonic stem cells. Notably, expression of these genes is critical for reprogramming somatic cells into pluripotent stem cells (induced).

Materials (or patients) and methods: Therefore, in this study we focused on the expression of Oct4 and Sox2 genes in fresh marrow cells, in PBPC mobilized to blood for autologous transplantation and in their offspring cultured in MSC growth-stimulating media. In addition, the expression of LIF, TERT and Rex-1 was investigated. Marrow cells were aspirated from the posterior iliac crest for further culture without any additional processing (5 samples) or from PBPC (2 samples). Cultures were performed in Falcon flasks in the presence of Minimal Essential Medium alpha and human platelet lysate (5%). The cultures were followed for the presence of 100% confluence (reached from 13 to 49 days). The cells after trypsinization were harvested, counted and phenotyped. In the cultures of marrow cells at harvest, CD45- CD34cells constituted 91% (median value) of the population and CD105+, CD90+ and CD73+ were at 98%, 99% and 96%, respectively. Cells cultured from PBPC at harvest were only 53% CD45- CD34-. Custom-made Real Time Ready PCR included probes and primers for detection of the expression of Nanog, Oct4, Sox2, Rex-1, TERT, and LIF genes in relation to the reference genes (GUSB, RPL 13A). Results: Nanog, Oct4, and Sox2 were expressed in all samples; however, Oct4 expression was closest to the expression of the reference samples (usually in the range of 10E-1). Nanog and Sox2 expression was detected at a lower value range (usually 10E-3). Expression levels of all three of these genes were significantly correlated (R was 0.85, 0.86 and 0.72 for correlation between Oct4 and Nanog, Nanog and Sox2, and Oct4 and Sox2, respectively.)

Cells cultured to confluent growth had a much lower level of expression of the studied genes.

Conclusion: In conclusion, fresh populations of marrow cells and PBPC contain cells which express genes essential for propagation and self-renewal.

References: Supported by INNOMED/I/1/NCBR/2014 CellsTherapy NCBiR grant

Laboratory of Immunogenetics and Tissue Immunology Head: Professor Piotr Kuśnierczyk, Ph.D. Immunogenetics of human diseases

Gene-gene interactions between CD40 and CD40L in Polish multiple sclerosis patients

CD40–CD40L interaction is necessary for activation of both the humoral and the cellular immune response and has been suggested to play a role in the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis (MS). Therefore, we analyzed the combined influence of the CD40 and CD40L variants on MS susceptibility and progression in a well-defined Polish population. Our investigation revealed that CT individuals in the rs1883832 locus of CD40 possessed almost 1.5-fold higher risk for MS than CC individuals (OR = 1.44; 95%CI = 1.03–2.1; p = 0.032), while this risk for TT individuals was almost 2.5-fold higher (OR = 2.36; 95%CI = 1.19–4.78; p = 0.014).

Moreover, for the first time, we observed the association of the CD40 gene with MS development and progression. We observed that for the rs1883832CC individuals the age at diagnosis was on average 2 years lower than for the rs1883832CT and rs1883832TT individuals (95%CI = $_3$.69 $_$ ($_0$.29); p = 0.023). Additionally, we detected that individuals with TT and CT genotypes showed lower risk of developing a secondary progressive course in comparison to those with the CC genotype. For rs1883832TT individuals this risk was 4-fold lower (HR = 0.24; 95%CI = 0.10–0.53; p = 0.00062). Despite the fact that the CD40–CD40L pathway plays a key role in development of autoimmune diseases, we were not able to detect gene–gene interactions between CD40 and CD40L polymorphisms associated with multiple sclerosis.

ALCAM and CD6 — multiple sclerosis risk factors

ALCAM and CD6 may play an important role in the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis (MS), since they are involved in the transmigration of leukocytes across the blood-brain barrier. In this study, we confirmed our previous findings about the association of the ALCAM gene with risk, development and progression of MS. Additionally, we demonstrated that in the case of the CD6 gene (encoding the receptor of ALCAM) not only polymorphisms but also mRNA expression level are associated with MS. Our analysis revealed that the risk of

the disease for AA individuals in rs12360861 was almost 3.0-fold lower in comparison to GG individuals (OR= 0.34; 95%CI= 0.12; 0.81). Moreover, we observed lower expression of CD6 mRNA in patients than in healthy individuals (T22,74= 6.678; p = 0.002).

Single nucleotide polymorphism -35 kb T>C (rs9264942) is strongly associated with psoriasis vulgaris depending on HLA-Cw/06

HLA class I molecules play a role both in viral infection control and in autoimmune disease development. rs9264942T>C polymorphism in the HLA-C gene was found to impact on HLA-C surface expression level and to be associated with HIV-1 control. It was found that those HLA alleles which protect against AIDS are associated with autoimmune disease, e.g. psoriasis vulgaris (PsV). Whether the rs9264942 SNP is associated with PsV was investigated here. rs9264942T>C was genotyped in 292 PsV patients and 254 controls using TaqMan Genotyping Assay.

PsV patients differed from controls in frequencies of rs9264942T>C alleles (p = 3.62 _ 10_16) and genotypes (5.67 _ 10_15). However, the rs9264942C allele predisposed to PsV three times more weakly than HLA-Cw/06 (OR = 5.04 vs. OR = 15.61, respectively). In addition, this SNP was described earlier to be in strong linkage disequilibrium (LD) with another SNP, rs67384697 ins/del, which by affecting microRNA binding is responsible for regulating HLA-C expression. However, typing for rs9264942 is cheaper and simpler than that for rs67384697; therefore we think it may substitute for it to some extent.

Presence of the full-length KIR2DS4 gene reduces the chance of rheumatoid arthritis patients to respond to methotrexate treatment

KIR genes coding for natural killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIR) influence effector and regulatory function of NK cells as well as some subpopulations of T lymphocytes (e.g. CD4+CD28-KIR+) depending on presence of ligands (particularly HLA-C molecules). KIR-KIR ligand interaction may lead to the development of autoimmune disorders, including rheumatoid arthritis (RA). However, their role in the response of RA patients to methotrexate therapy is not known.

KIR genes and KIR-ligand (*HLA-C* C1/C2 allomorphs) genotyping was performed using the PCR-SSP method in 312 RA patients (179 classified as good responders and 133 as poor responders using the ACR20 response parameter). Thus, we evaluated the association of *KIR* genes and *HLA-C* allomorphs with the response to methotrexate (MTX) treatment. We observed that patients possessing the full-length *KIR2DS4* gene (*KIR2DS4f*) had a lower

chance to respond in comparison to *KIR2DS4f*-negative cases. This phenomenon was observed both in erosive disease (ED) and rheumatoid factor (RF) positive and in ED- and RF-negative patients. Interestingly, the observed effect of the *KIR2DS4f* gene was strongest in individuals possessing medium values (20-33 mm/h) of the erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR). Patients with high ESR values had a low probability and, in contrast, patients with low ESR had a high probability of MTX response, and the presence of *KIR2DS4f* did not affect their outcome. Additionally, we found that the *KIR2DS4f* effect did not depend on the presence of either C1 or C2 allomorphs. Our results suggest that the response of RA patients with medium ESR values to MTX treatment is dependent on the *KIR2DS4* full-length gene.

Two new cases of KIR3DP1, KIR2DL4-negative genotypes, one of which is also lacking KIR3DL2

The killer immunoglobulin-like receptor (*KIR*) genes *KIR2DL4*, *KIR3DL2*, and *KIR3DP1* are present in virtually all humans. *KIR2DL4* encodes a receptor present on uterine and decidual natural killer (NK) cells and some peripheral blood NK cells. Its only known ligand is the human leukocyte antigen-G molecule expressed on extravillous trophoblasts, and on tissues in some diseases. KIR3DL2 binds HLA-A*03 and HLA-A*11 as well as HLA-B*27 dimers, and microbial CpG DNA. *KIR3DP1* is a pseudogene. During our immunogenetic studies we found two individuals, one from the Lower Silesia district in Poland, and another from Western Ukraine, who were reproducibly negative for *KIR2DL4* and *KIR3DP1* genes, using three different PCR systems. Both individuals displayed very similar genotypes, possessing only *KIR3DL3*, *KIR2DL3*, *KIR2DP1*, *KIR2DS1*, and probably a rare variant of *KIR2DL1*. The Pole also had *KIR3DL2*, which the Ukrainian was apparently lacking. Lower Silesia was populated after the Second World War by a remarkable percentage of displaced people from Western Ukraine, which might contribute to the genetic similarity of the two individuals described here.

Laboratory of Clinical Immunogenetics and Pharmacogenetics Head: Professor Katarzyna Bogunia-Kubik, Ph.D. VEGF and BFGF gene polymorphisms in patients with multiple myeloma

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) play an important role in the initiation of angiogenesis. We aimed to assess whether polymorphisms located within the genes coding for these key angiogenic activators (*VEGF* (rs3025039; C>T) and *bFGF* (rs308395; G>C)) contribute to disease susceptibility and/or progression in patients with multiple myeloma (MM).

For this purpose, 133 patients with MM and 122 healthy individuals were typed for the *VEGF* and *bFGF* alleles by the PCR-RFLP technique.

Patients and healthy controls presented with similar distributions of the *VEGF* and *bFGF* alleles and genotypes. No association with disease susceptibility was found.

As in previous studies in patients with NHL (Wróbel et al. *Biomed Res Int*, 2013), a relationship was observed between the rs308395 bFGF polymorphism and course of the disease. Patients with the CC genotype were more likely to develop III stage of the disease than heterozygous and GG homozygous patients (Durie-Salmon criteria, p=0.052). Moreover, patients carrying the G allele responded significantly worse to the first line chemotherapy and more frequently developed progressive disease (p=0.022).

The course of disease in patients with multiple myeloma is associated with a polymorphism in the gene coding for bFGF.

Polymorphism and expression of proinflammatory factors in patients with rheumatic diseases treated with TNF-alpha inhibitors

The aim of this study was to analyze the polymorphism of the genes encoding IL-17A, IL-17F and IL-23R, IL-6 and nuclear factor kappa B (nF-κB) in patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA), in patients with psoriatic arthritis (PsA) and in healthy controls and to determine the relationships between the various polymorphic variants, disease susceptibility, progression, and response to therapy with TNF-alpha inhibitors.

The study included 190 patients with RA, 54 with PsA and 125 healthy individuals. The *IL-17F* (rs763780, 7488 A>G, His161Arg) and *NF-KB1* (rs28362491, -94 ins/del ATTG) polymorphisms were analyzed using PCR-RFLP. For *IL-17A* (rs2275913; -197 G>A), *IL-23R* (rs11209026, 1142 G> A) and *IL-6* (rs1800795; -174 G> C) real-time PCR genotyping was employed, using either LightSNiP (rs2275913; TIB MOLBIOL GmbH, Berlin) or TaqMan SNP Genotyping Assay (rs11209026, rs1800795; Life Technologies, USA).

The presence of the *IL-17F* minor variant (OR=3.97; p<0.001) and its homozygosity (OR=29.62; p<0.001) was more frequent among patients than healthy individuals. The *IL-17A* polymorphism was found to affect RA progression and response to anti-TNF treatment. Female patients carrying the *IL-17A* wild-type genotype more frequently presented with stage 4 (8/24 vs. 6/47; p=0.058) and were characterized by more active disease (the highest DAS28 score >5.1) after three months of therapy with the TNF inhibitors (12/23 vs. 15/45; p=0.040). The *IL-17F* polymorphism appeared to be associated with susceptibility to the disease. These

results suggest that the polymorphisms within the *IL-17A* and *IL-17F* genes play a significant role in RA (Bogunia-Kubik et al. *Arch Immunol Ther Exp*, in press).

Better response to treatment also characterized patients with the *IL-6* heterozygous genotype (DAS28 < 5.1 at 12 months, p=0.037). Moreover, patients with worse response to therapy with TNF-alpha blocking agents more often carried the *ins/ins* homozygous *NF-KB1* genotype, whose presence is associated with better activity of the promoter of this gene (and hence higher expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines) (p=0.05). None of the polymorphisms correlated with the incidence or course of PsA. However, higher IL-17 levels were observed in patients with the *GG* genotype of the IL-17A gene (p=0.069). Thus the *IL-17F* polymorphism was found to affect the RA susceptibility, while the *NF-KB1* and *IL-17A* polymorphic variants (associated with increased expression of these genes) less frequently occurred in patients responding to treatment.

HLA-E polymorphism in patients with rheumatoid and psoriatic arthritis

This study aimed to evaluate the role of the polymorphism within the gene encoding the non-classical HLA-E molecule in rheumatoid (RA) and psoriatic arthritis (PsA).

For this purpose 300 unrelated patients diagnosed with RA, 51 with PsA and 94 healthy controls were investigated and genotyped for the *HLA-E* polymorphism (rs1264457; 01:01/01:03; Arg128Gly) using Light SNiP typing assay. All RA patients included in the study fulfilled the American College of Rheumatology 1987 revised criteria for RA, had a disease activity score (DAS28) >5.1 prior to initiation of anti-TNF therapy and were resistant to treatment with at least at least two disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDS).

Analysis of distributions of the genotypes and alleles did not reveal any associations between studied polymorphisms and RA risk. However, the clinical outcome of anti-TNF treatment in RA patients was found to be associated with these polymorphisms. After 12 weeks of treatment, the good/moderate response was more frequently displayed by female patients with HLA-E*01:01/01:01 genotype while 01:03 allele carriers were generally unresponsive to treatment (p=0.014). Also the frequency of the HLA-E*01:03/01:03 genotype was overrepresented among the non-responder group of patients in comparison to 01:01/01:01 homozygous patients (p=0.021).

Comparison of the PsA patients (n=51) and healthy control group confirmed the association between HLA-C*06 and PsA (OR=5.16, p<0.0001) and additionally revealed that the HLA-C*02 allele was more frequently observed in PsA patients (OR=5.40, p<0.0005). Interestingly, the HLA-E*01:01 allele was also found to be significantly over-represented

among HLA-C*02-negative patients in comparison to healthy individuals (OR=6.44, p=0.045). Therefore these results suggest that the HLA-E and HLA-C*02 molecules may also play an important role in determination of the immune response contributing to PsA development (Sokolik et al. *Human Immunol*, 2014).

DEPARTMENT OF TUMOR IMMUNOLOGY Head: Professor Paweł Kisielow, Ph.D.

Laboratory of Molecular and Cellular Immunology

Head: Professor Małgorzata Cebrat, Ph.D.

Ikaros and RAG-2-mediated antisense transcription are responsible for inactivation of the promoter of the NWC gene in lymphocytes

NWC is the third gene within the RAG-1/RAG-2 locus. It is widely accepted that RAG-1 and RAG-2 genes, which are indispensable for V(D)J recombination, have been acquired by jawed vertebrates as a result of a horizontal transfer of a mobile genetic element. The promoter of the NWC gene is located in close proximity to the RAG-2 coding exon, and the structure of the RAG/NWC locus is remarkably well evolutionarily conserved in jawed vertebrates; however, homologues of the NWC gene can also be found in many invertebrate species. We have found that in contrast to promoters of RAG genes, the NWC promoter is active in nonlymphoid cells and is inactivated in lymphoid cells. The activity of the NWC promoter is controlled by the ZFP-143 transcription factor; its inactivation is controlled by the Ikaros protein competing with ZFP-143 for the binding sites in the promoter and promoter methylation caused by RAG-2-driven antisense transcription. We have also demonstrated that the NWC promoter has bidirectional activity which drives the expression of RAG-2 transcripts in nonlymphoid cells. Taking into consideration all the above facts, we have put forward a hypothesis that the NWC locus was the integration site for the RAG transposon and the bidirectional activity of the NWC promoter (a feature which characterizes many promoters controlling transposon-derived genes) could initially facilitate the integration and survival of the RAG transposon, while additional mechanisms controlling the transcription activity of the RAG locus (i.e. RAG enhancers, inactivation of NWC promoter in lymphocytes) were acquired later in evolution to enable proper spatial and temporal expression of RAG genes.

To verify this hypothesis, we decided to examine the activity of the *NWC* promoter in several vertebrate (*H. sapiens*, *X. tropicalis*, *D. rerio*) and invertebrate species (*S. purpuratus*, *T. adhaerens*) to check whether the bidirectional activity of the *NWC* promoter is an evolutionarily conserved feature. To do this, we have:

• identified the transcriptional start site of *NWC* transcripts,

- identified the minimal fragments possessing promoter activity,
- characterized fragments indispensable for promoter activity,
- characterized the bidirectional activity of the promoters.

We have found that the *NWC* promoters of *H. sapiens*, *X. tropicalis* and *D. rerio* exhibit bidirectional activity and that the activity of the *H. sapiens* promoter is regulated by the ZNF-143 transcription factor. Although the binding sites for a ZFP-143 homologue (Staf-1) are present in the *X. tropicalis* promoter, their deletion did not significantly affect the promoter activity, suggesting that Staf-1 is not indispensable for the promoter activity. Identification of other factors regulating the *X. tropicalis NWC* promoter and characterization of invertebrate *NWC* promoters are the subjects of current investigations.

Laboratory of Tumor Immunology

Head: Professor Arkadiusz Miażek, Ph.D.

Dissecting molecular events associated with the development of acute T lymphoblastic leukemia in LAT deficient mice

LAT (Linker for Activation of T Cells) is an integral, transmembrane adaptor protein that coordinates the assembly of multiprotein signaling complexes operated by the T cell receptor (TCR). Preliminary studies showed that LAT knock-out mice but not control CD3ε knock-out mice, both harboring an allele of hyperactivated p56lck kinase (LCKY505F), develop fully penetrant T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (T-ALL) and die before 17 weeks of age. In order to understand how the loss of LAT translates into oncogenic transformation of early thymocytes, we set out to elucidate the global picture of signaling events triggered by the hyperactivated Lck^{Y505F} kinase in the absence of the LAT signalosome, and in particular to define novel oncogenic substrates of Lck^{Y505F} by phosphoproteome analysis. We also searched for differences in global gene expression in preleukemic and control thymocytes in order to find transcripts specifically induced or suppressed by the Lck Y505F allele. Moreover, we sought to establish novel cell lines derived from the primary thymic lymphomas of LAT KO x LCKY505F mice as tools for proteomic and transcriptomic analyses. To this end we defined expression levels of 88 genes that were reportedly associated with T-ALL. Among transcripts significantly upregulated in pre-leukemic CD4+CD8+ thymocytes of LAT KO x LCK^{Y505F} mice we found a signature of 8 genes associated with Notch 1 signaling (*Notch1*, Notch3, Hes, and Ptcra) that were strongly overexpressed. Interestingly, the above-mentioned gene signature is consistently found in over 60% of human T-ALL. Therefore the model of LAT KO x LCK Y505F mice closely reflects common signaling events leading to oncogenic transformation of human thymocytes. To dissect alterations in intracellular signaling

associated with loss of the LAT signalosome we measured the activation status of LCK^{Y505F} kinase and found that it was hyperactive. To search for aberrant LCK^{Y505F} kinase substrates we prepared phosphopeptide libraries of control and pre-leukemic thymocytes for protein identification by mass spectrometry. One of the candidate proteins that undergoes LCK^{Y505F} mediated activation is the protein kinase C theta (PKCΘ), which was shown to activate the c-Raf/MEK1/2/Erk pathway in LAT^{Y126F} knock-in mice. We seek to confirm a role played by PKCΘ in the oncogenic transformation of LAT KO x LCK^{Y505F} thymocytes. For this purpose we established 5 novel cell lines from the primary thymic lymphoma of LAT KO x LCK^{Y505F} mice. These cell lines were shown to have productive TCRβ rearrangements and to express markers of CD3-CD4-CD8- (TN) T cell precursors. They should be useful in defining transcriptome profiles and in dissecting signaling pathways associated with T-ALL.

LABORATORY OF GLYCOBIOLOGY AND CELLULAR INTERACTIONS Head: Professor Danuta Duś, Ph.D.

Mechanisms of tumor progression. Intercellular adhesive interactions during metastatic spread of cancer cells
Biology of endothelial progenitor cells

In 2014 investigations on the biology of endothelial progenitor cells were continued. The studies aimed to determine the participation of these kinds of cells in normal regenerative processes.

Tests were carried out on two human lines of early endothelial progenitor cells: HEPC-CB.1 and HEPC-CB.2 The secretion profile of these cells was determined using a membrane protein RayBio Custom C-Series Human Cytokine Antibody Array. It has been shown that HEPC-CB.1 and HEPC-CB.2 cells produce 13 out of 48 cytokines tested. Cytokines produced in the largest quantities are IL-8 and MCP-1. The production of all cytokines changes over time and depends on oxygen conditions. Similar studies were also performed for two mature endothelial cell (EC) lines: HUVEC (endothelial cells derived from the umbilical vein) and HskMEC.2 (endothelial cells derived from the skin). Comparison of the results leads to the conclusion that only 5 cytokines are shared by both types of cells. EPC produce 8 and EC produce 9 additional cytokines.

Additionally, a functional assay on the reconstituted extracellular matrix (Matrigel) was performed. It was found that the factors secreted by HEPC-CB.1 and HEPC-CB.2 cell lines increase the yield of tubular structure formation on Matrigel by mature endothelial HUVEC cells.

It has been found that the established endothelial progenitor cell lines, as well as the mature endothelial cells, are able to secrete a variety of growth factors and cytokines. Secretion profile analysis distinguishes between EPC and EC. Factors produced by endothelial progenitor cells support mature endothelial cell angiogenesis.

The study will allow for a better understanding of the biology of endothelial progenitor cells. Understanding of the factors supporting angiogenesis, secreted by endothelial progenitors, will allow the future use of these cells for the treatment of diseases involving a damaged endothelial layer (e.g. in myocardial infarction or hard-to-heal wounds).

The role of ceramide galactosyltransferase (UGT8) and galactosylceramide (GalCer) in cellular response and multidrug resistance of breast cancer cells

Our previous studies have shown that the suppression of UDP-galactosylceramide galactosyltransferase (UGT8), which synthesizes galactosylceramide (GalCer), in breast cancer MDA-MD-231 cells has a profound effect on their tumorigenic and metastatic properties. In accordance with this finding, immunohistochemical staining of tumor specimens revealed that expression of UGT8, accompanied by accumulation of galactosylceramide, is associated with a much higher proliferative index and a lower number of apoptotic cells. Based on these results, we proposed that presence of GalCer protects breast cancer cells from cellular stresses induced by the tumor microenvironment, and probably its cytoprotective effect is associated with increased resistance to stress-induced apoptosis. Additional evidence suggesting the involvement of GalCer as an apoptosis "protector" came from our experiments on doxorubicin-induced apoptosis in breast cancer cells. It was found that expression of UGT8 in MDA-MB-231 cells was associated with their resistance to this anti-cancer drug, suggesting that UGT8 may also be involved in multidrug resistance (MDR) of cancer cells. Therefore, the present study was undertaken to identify those cellular stressors or microenvironmental factors which are associated with the anti-apoptotic effect of UGT8 and GalCer, and elucidate the role played by them in multidrug resistance of breast cancer cells. Using three different cellular models, including human breast cancer MDA-MB-231 cells with decreased expression of UGT8 and human breast cancer T47D cells and murine mammary carcinoma 4T1 cells with de novo expression of UGT8, we have shown that the presence of GalCer makes these cells more resistant to hypoxia-induced apoptosis. Using the same approach, we have also shown that all breast cancer cells with expression of UGT8 and accumulation of GalCer are resistant to apoptosis induced by doxorubicin and paclitaxel.

Publication - 2014

Articles published in the journals from Thomson Reuters Master Journal List:

- 1. Antoszczak M, Maj E, Napiórkowska A, Stefańska J, Augustynowicz-Kopeć A, Wietrzyk J, Janczak J, Brzezinski B, Huczyński A. Synthesis, anticancer and antibacterial activity of salinomycin *N*-benzyl amides. *Molecules*, 2014, 19, 19435-19459; doi:10.3390/molecules191219435 **IF 2,095** (**30 pkt**)
- 2. Antoszczak M, Maj E, Stefańska J, Wietrzyk J, Janczak J, Brzezinski B, Huczyński A.: Synthesis, antiproliferative and antibacterial activity of new amides of salinomycin. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett.* 2014, 24(7), 1724-29 doi: 10.1016/j.bmcl.2014.02.042 **IF 2,331** (**30 pkt**)
- 3. Antoszczak M, Popiel K, Stefańska J, Wietrzyk J, Maj E, Janczak J, Michalska G, Brzezinski B, Huczyński A.: Synthesis, cytotoxicity and antibacterial activity of new esters of polyether antibiotic salinomycin. *Eur J Med Chem*, 2014, 76:435-44. doi: 10.1016/j.ejmech.2014.02.031 **IF 3,432** (**40 pkt**)
- 4. Ashline DJ, Reinhold VN, Duk M, Łukasiewicz J, Lisowska E, Jaśkiewicz E. The structures of glycophorin C N-glycans, a putative component of the GPC receptor site for *Plasmodium falciparum* EBA-140 ligand. *Glycobiology*, 2014, pii: cwu188. [Epub ahead of print] IF -3,747 (30 pkt)
- 5. Batycka-Baran A, Paprocka M, Krawczenko A, Duś D, Szepietowski JC. *Increased number of circulating endothelial cells (CECs) in patients with psoriasis--preliminary report. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol*, 2014, 28(1), 116-119 **IF 3,105 (35 pkt)**
- 6. Bączkowicz D, Majorczyk E. Joint motion quality in vibroacoustic signal analysis for patients with patellofemoral joint disorders. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders* 2014;15(1), 426. doi: 10.1186/1471-2474-15-426 **IF 1,989 (30 pkt)**
- 7. Bednarz-Misa I., Serek P., Dudek B., Pawlak A., Bugla-Płoskońska G., Gamian A.: Application of zwitterionic detergent to the solubilization of Klebsiella pneumoniae outer membrane proteins for two-dimensional gel electrophoresis. *J Microbiol Methods*, 2014, 107, 74-79. doi: 10.1016/j.mimet.2014.09.004. [Epub ahead of print] **IF 2,096** (25 pkt)
- 8. Bijak M, Ziewiecki R, Saluk J, Ponczek M, Pawlaczyk I, Krotkiewski H, Wachowicz B, Nowak P.: Thrombin inhibitory activity of some polyphenolic compounds. *Med. Chem. Res.* 2014, 23, 2324-2337 **IF 1,612 (20 pkt)**
- 9. Bodkowski R, Patkowska-Sokoła B, Filip-Psurska B, Kempińska K, Wietrzyk J, Czyż K, Walisiewicz-Niedbalska W, Usydus Z.: Evaluation of the anti-proliferative activity of natural lipid preparations against tumor cell lines. *J Anim Vet Adv*, 2014, 13 (4), 257-266 **IF 0,365 (15 pkt)**
- 10. Brzozowska E., Śmietana M., Koba M., Górska S., Pawlik K., Gamian A., Bock W.J.: Recognition of bacterial lipopolysaccharide using bacteriophage-adhesin-coated long-period gratings. *Biosens Bioelectron*, 2014 Jul 18. pii: S0956-5663(14)00520-X. doi: 10.1016/j.bios.2014.07.027 **IF 6,451 (40 pkt)**
- 11. Budziszewska BK, Pluta A, Sulek K, Wierzbowska A, Robak T, Giebel S, Holowiecka-Goral A, Sawicki W, Ejduk A, Patkowska E, Manko J, Gajkowska-Kulik J, Piszcz J, Mordak-Domagala M, Mądry K, Holowiecki J, Kyrcz-Krzemien S, Nowakowska-Domagala M, Dmoszynska A, Calbecka M, Kloczko J, Jędrzejczak WW, Lange A, Razny

- M, Bilinski P, Warzocha K, Lech-Marańda E. Treatment of Elderly Patients with Acute Myeloid Leukemia Adjusted for Performance Status and Presence of Comorbidities; A Polish Adult Leukemia Group (PALG) study. *Leuk Lymphoma*, 2014, 13, 1-26 **IF 2,605** (**25 pkt**)
- 12. Chałupniak A., Waszczuk K., Hałubek-Głuchowska K., Piasecki T., Gotszalk T., Rybka J.: Application of quartz tuning forks for detection of endotoxins and Gram-negative bacterial cells by monitoring of Limulus Amebocyte Lysate coagulation. *Biosens Bioelectron.*, 2014, 58, 132-137. doi: 10.1016/j.bios.2014.02.048. Epub 2014 Feb **28 IF 6,451 (40 pkt)**
- 13. Chelmonska-Soyta A, Ozgo M, Lepczynski A, Herosimczyk A, Buska-Pisarek K, Kedzierska A, Nowak D, Mazur AJ.: Proteome of spleen CD4 lymphocytes in mouse preimplantation pregnancy. *J Phys Pharmacol*, 2014, 65(5), 719-731 **IF 2, 720** (25 pkt)
- 14. Czarny A, Zaczyńska E, Jeleń M, Zimecki M, Pluta K, Morak-Młodawska B, Artym J, Kocięba M: Antibacterial properties of substituted quino[3,2-b]benzo[1,4]thiazines. *Pol. J. Microbiol.*, 2014, 63, 335-339 **F 0,871 (20 pkt)**
- 15. Czyż M., Dembczyński R., Marecik R., Wojas-Turek J., Milczarek M., Pajtasz-Piasecka E., Wietrzyk J., Pniewski T.: Freeze-drying of plant tissue containing HBV surface antigen for the oral vaccine against hepatitis B. *BioMed Res Int*, 2014; 485689 **IF 2,706** (30 pkt) poprzednia nazwa czasopisma: *J Biomed Biotechnol*.
- 16. Dąbrowska K, Kaźmierczak Z, Majewska J, Miernikiewicz P, Piotrowicz A, Wietrzyk J, Lecion D, Hodyra K, Nasulewicz-Goldeman A, Owczarek B, Górski A.: Bacteriophages displaying anticancer peptides in combined antibacterial and anticancer treatment. *Future Microbiol*, 2014, 9, 861-869 doi: 10.2217/fmb.14.50 **IF 3,819** (**35 pkt**)
- 17. Dąbrowska K., Miernikiewicz P., Piotrowicz A., Hodyra K., Owczarek B., Lecion D, Kazmierczak Z., Letarov A, Górski A.: Immunogenicity studies of proteins forming the t4 phage head surface. *J Virol*, 2014, 88(21) 12551-12557 **IF 4,648 (35 pkt)**
- 18. Donczew R., Mielke T., Jaworski P., Zakrzewska-Czerwińska J., Zawilak-Pawlik A: Assembly of *Helicobacter pylori* Initiation Complex Is Determined by Sequence-Specific and Topology-Sensitive DnaA-*oriC* Interactions. *J Mol Biol*, 2014, 426(15), 2769-2782 **IF 3,959** (**30 pkt**)
- 19. Donczew R., Makowski Ł., Jaworski P., Bezulska M., Nowaczyk M., Zakrzewska-Czerwińska J., Zawilak-Pawlik A.: The atypical response regulator HP1021 controls formation of the *Helicobacter pylori* replication initiation complex. *Mol Microbiol*, 2014 Nov 17. doi: 10.1111/mmi.12866. [Epub ahead of print] **IF 5,026** (**40 pkt**)
- 20. Donczew R., Zakrzewska-Czerwińska J., Zawilak-Pawlik A.: Beyond DnaA: the role of DNA topology and DNA methylation in bacterial replication initiation. *J Mol Biol*, 2014, 426(12): 2269-2282 **IF 3,959** (**30 pkt**)
- 21. Fink K, Boratyński J. Noncovalent cation- π interactions their role in nature. *Post Hig Med Dosw* (online), 2014, 68, 1276-86. doi: 10.5604/17322693.1127950 **IF 0,633** (**15 pkt**)
- 22. Frydecka D, Misiak B, Pawlak-Adamska E, Karabon L, Tomkiewicz A, Sedlaczek P, Kiejna A, Beszłej JA. Interleukin-6: the missing element of the neurocognitive deterioration in schizophrenia? The focus on genetic underpinnings, cognitive impairment and clinical manifestation. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2014 Sep 12. [Epub ahead of print] IF 3,355 (30 pkt)

- 23. Galvão AM, Ferreira-Dias GM, Chełmonska-Soyta A, Wocławek-Potocka I, Skarżyński DJ.: Immune-endocrine cross-talk in reproductive biology and pathology. Mediators Inflamm. 2014; 2014, 856465. doi: 10.1155/2014/856465 IF 2,417 (30 pkt)
- 24. Gamkrelidze M., Dąbrowska K.: T4 bacteriophage as a phage display platform. *Arch Microbiol*, 2014, 196(7), 473-479 **IF 1,861 (20 pkt)**
- 25. Giebel S, Boratyn-Nowicka A, Karabon L, Jedynak A, Pamula-Pilat J, Tecza K, Kula D, Kowal M, Frydecka I, Grzybowska E. Associations between genes for killer immunoglobulin-like receptors and their ligands in patients with epithelial ovarian cancer. *Hum Immunol*, 2014, 75, 508-13 **IF 2,282** (**20 pkt**)
- 26. Gnach A., Lipinski T., Bednarkiewicz A., Rybka J., Capobianco JA.: Upconverting nanoparticles: assessing the toxicity. *Chem Soc Rev.* 2014 Sep 1. [Epub ahead of print] **IF 30,425** (**50 pkt**)
- 27. Goldeman W., Nasulewicz-Goldeman A. Synthesis and antiproliferative activity of aromatic and aliphatic bis[aminomethylidenebis(phosphonic)] acids. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2014, 24, 3475-3479 **IF 2,331** (**30 pkt**)
- 28. Górska S., Schwarzer M., Jachymek W., Srutkova D., Brzozowska E., Kozakova H., Gamian A.: Distinct immunomodulation of bone marrow-derived dendritic cell responses to Lactobacillus plantarum WCFS1 by two different polysaccharides isolated from Lactobacillus rhamnosus LOCK 0900. *Appl Environ Microbiol.*, 2014, 80(20), 6506-6516. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02104-14 **IF 3,952** (**40 pkt**)
- 29. Goszczyński TM, Filip-Psurska B, Kempińska K, Wietrzyk J, Boratyński J. Hydroxyethyl starch as an effective methotrexate carrier in anticancer therapy. *Pharmacol Res Perspect*, 2014, 2(3):e00047. doi: 10.1002/prp2.47 **IF 3,976** (25 pkt)
- 30. Goszczyński TM, Kowalski K, Leśnikowski ZJ, Boratyński J. Solid state, thermal synthesis of site-specific protein-boron cluster conjugates and their physicochemical and biochemical properties. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, *General Subjects*, 2015, Feb;1850(2):411-8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2014.11.015. Epub 2014 Nov 20 **IF 3,829** (**35 pkt**)
- 31. Gozdziewicz TK, Lugowski C, Lukasiewicz J.: First evidence for a covalent linkage between enterobacterial common antigen and lipopolysaccharide in *Shigella sonnei* phase II ECALPS. *J Biol Chem*, 2014, 289(5), 2745-54 **IF 4,600** (**35 pkt**)
- 32. Gubernator J, Lipka D, Korycińska M, Kempińska K, Milczarek M, Wietrzyk J, Hrynyk R, Barnert S, Süss R, Kozubek A.: Efficient human breast cancer xenograft regression after a single treatment with a novel liposomal formulation of epirubicin prepared using the EDTA ion gradient method. *PLoS One*, 2014, 9(3):e91487. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0091487 **IF 3,534** (**40 pkt**)
- 33. Heimrath J, Paprocka M, Czekanski A, Ledwozyw A, Kantor A, Dus D. *Pregnancy-induced hypertension is accompanied by decreased number of circulating endothelial cells and circulating endothelial progenitor cells. Arch Immunol Ther Exp*, 2014, 62(4), 353-356 **IF 2,818 (25 pkt)**
- 34. Jankowska EA, Kasztura M, Sokolski M, Bronisz M, Nawrocka S, Oleśkowska-Florek W, Zymliński R, Biegus J, Siwołowski P, Banasiak W, Anker SD, Filippatos G, Cleland JG, Ponikowski P.: Iron deficiency defined as depleted iron stores accompanied by unmet cellular iron requirements identifies patients at the highest risk of death after an episode of acute heart failure. *Eur Heart J.* 2014, 35(36), 2468-76. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehu235 **IF 14,723 (50 pkt)**

- 35. Jaskula E, Lange A, Kyrcz-Krzemien S, Markiewicz M, Dzierzak-Mietla M, Jedrzejczak WW, Czajka P, Mordak-Domagala M, Lange J, Gronkowska A, Nowak J, Warzocha K, Hellmann A, Kowalczyk J, Drabko K, Gozdzik J, Mizia S; Polish Donor-Recipient Matching Group. NOD2/CARD15 single nucleotide polymorphism 13 (3020insC) is associated with risk of sepsis and single nucleotide polymorphism 8 (2104C>T) with herpes viruses reactivation in patients after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*, 2014, 20(3), 409-14 **IF 3,348** (**30 pkt**)
- 36. Jędrzejczak K, Hrynczyszyn P, Artym J, Kocięba J, Zimecki M, Zabrocki J, Jankowski S.: Synthesis and biological activity of cyclolinopeptide A analogues modified with γ3-bis(homophenylalanine). *Eur. J. Med. Chem.*, 2014, 86, 515-527 **IF 3,432 (40 pkt)**
- 37. Jeleń M, Pluta K, Zimecki M, Morak-Młodawska B, Artym J, Kocięba M: 6-Substituted 9-fluorochino[3,2-b]benzo[1,4]thiazines display strong antiproliferative and antitumor properties. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.*, 2014, 89, 411-420 **IF 3,432 (40 pkt)**
- 38. Jończyk-Matysiak E., Kłak M., Weber-Dąbrowska B., Borysowski J., Górski A.: Possible use of bacteriophages active against *Bacillus anthracis* and other *B. cereus* group members in the face of a bioterrorism threat. Hindawi Publishing Corporation. *Biomed Res Int*, 2014; 735413. doi: 10.1155/2014/735413. Epub 2014 Aug 28 (dawna nazwa czas. *J. Biomed. Biotechnol.*) **IF 2,706** (**30 pkt**)
- 39. Kaczmarek R, Buczkowska A, Mikołajewicz K, Krotkiewski H, Czerwiński M.: P1PK, GLOB and FORS blood group systems and GLOB collection: biochemical and clinical aspects. Do we understand it all yet ?" *Transfus. Med. Rev.* 2014, 28, 126-136 **IF 4,530** (35 pkt)
- 40. Kalisz M, Szymańska M,. Dębowska A. K, Michalak B, Brzozowska E, Górska S, Śmietana M: Influence of biofunctionalization process on properties of silicon oxynitride substrate layer, *Surf Interface Anal*, 2014, doi: 10.1002/sia.5379. **IF- 1,393 (20 pkt)**
- 41. Kazubek-Zemke M., Rybka J., Marchewka Z., Rybka W., Pawlik K., Długosz A.: Preliminary study on application of urine amino acids profiling for monitoring of renal tubular injury using GLC-MS. *Post Hig Med Dosw, (online)*, 2014, 68(0), 1299-311 **IF 0,633 (15 pkt)**
- 42. Kicielińska J, Pajtasz-Piasecka E.: The role of IL-10 in the modulation of the immune response in normal conditions and the tumor environment. *Post Hig Med Dośw*, 2014, 68, 879-92 **IF 0,663 (15 pkt)**
- 43. Kijewska M, Kuc A, Kluczyk A, Waliczek M, Man-Kupisinska A, Lukasiewicz J, Stefanowicz P, Szewczuk Z.: Selective detection of carbohydrates and their peptide conjugates by ESI-MS using synthetic quaternary ammonium salt derivatives of phenylboronic acids. *J Am Soc Mass Spectr*, 2014, 25(6), 966-76 **IF 3,193** (**35 pkt**)
- 44. Kłossowicz M, Marek-Bukowiec K, Arbulo-Echevarria MM, Scirka B, Majkowski M, Sikorski AF, Aguado E, Miazek A.: Identification of functional, short-livedisoform of linker for activation of T cells (LAT). *Genes Immun*, 2014, 15(7), 449-56 doi:10.1038/gene.2014.35**IF 3,675** (**30 pkt**)
- 45. Koba M., Śmietana M., Brzozowska E., Górska S., Mikulic P., Bock W.J.: Reusable bacteriophage adhesin-coated long-period grating sensor for bacterial lipopolysaccharide recognition. *J. Lightwave Technology*, 2014, DOI: 10.1109/JLT.2014.2364118 **IF 2,862** (35 pkt)

- 46. Konieczny MT, Bułakowska A, Polak J, Pirska D, Konieczny W, Gryń P, Skladanowski A, Sabisz M, Lemke K, Pieczykolan A, Gałązka M, Wiciejowska K, Wietrzyk J.: Structural factors affecting cytotoxic activity of (E)-1-(benzo[d][1,3]oxathiol-6-yl)-3-phenylprop-2-en-1-one derivatives. *Chem Biol Drug Des*, 2014 84(1), 86-91 doi: 10.1111/cbdd.12296 **IF 2,507** (**25 pkt**)
- 47. Kosmaczewska A, Ciszak L, Swierkot J, Szteblich A, Kosciow K, Frydecka I. Exogenous IL-2 Controls the Balance in Th1, Th17, and Treg Cell Distribution in Patients with Progressive Rheumatoid Arthritis Treated with TNF-Alpha Inhibitors. *Inflammation*, 2014; doi: 10.1007/s10753-014-9987-x. Aug 22. [Epub ahead of print] **IF 1,921(15 pkt)**
- 48. Kosmaczewska A, Swierkot J, Ciszak L, Szteblich A, Chrobak A, Karabon L, Partyka A, Szechinski J, Wiland P, Frydecka I. Patients with the most advanced rheumatoid arthritis remain with Th1 systemic defects after TNF inhibitors treatment despite clinical improvement. *Rheumatol Int.* 2014, 34, 243-53 **IF 1,627** (**20 pkt**)
- 49. Kosmaczewska A. Low-Dose Interleukin-2 Therapy: A Driver of an imbalance between immune tolerance and autoimmunity. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 2014; 15:18574-18592 **IF 2,339** (30 pkt)
- 50. <u>Kosmaczewska</u> A., <u>Ciszak</u> L., <u>Świerkot</u> J., <u>Szteblich</u> A., <u>Wiland</u> P., <u>Frydecka</u> I. Alterations in both the activatory and inhibitory potential of peripheral blood CD4+ T cells in rheumatoid arthritis patients correlate with disease progression. *Pathol. Oncol. Res.* 2014; 20(2), 235-243 **IF 1,806** (**20 pkt**)
- 51. Kotowska M., Ciekot J., Pawlik K.: Type II thioesterase ScoT is required for coelimycin production by the modular polyketide synthase Cpk of *Streptomyces coelicolor* A3(2). *Acta Biochim Pol*, 2014, 61, 141–147 **IF 1,389 (15 pkt)**
- 52. Kotowska M., Pawlik K.: Roles of type II thioesterases and their application for secondary metabolite yield improvement. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol*, 2014, 98, 7735–7746 **IF 3,811** (**35 pkt**)
- 53. Kowalski K, Trzepiński P, Druszczyńska M, Boratyński J. Mycolic acids-biological role and potential application in Mycobacterium detection and differentiation. *Post Hig Med Dosw*, 2014, 68, 350-35. doi: 10.5604/17322693.1097425 **IF 0,633** (**15 pkt**)
- 54. Krawczyk P, Twarog E, Kurowska E, Klopotowska, D, Matuszyk J.: Establishment of a cellular model to study TrkC-dependent neuritogenesis. *In Vitro Cell Devell Biol Animal*, 2014 Nov 15. [Epub ahead of print] **IF 1,00** (**15 pkt**)
- 55. Lączkowski KZ, Misiura K, Switalska M, Wietrzyk J, Baranowska-Łączkowska A, Fernández B, Paneth A, Plech T.: Synthesis and in vitro antiproliferative activity of thiazole-based nitrogen mustards. The hydrogen bonding interaction between model systems and nucleobases. *Anticancer Agents Med Chem*, 2014, 14(9), 1271-81 **IF 2,939** (35 pkt)
- 56. Łakomska I, Hoffmann K, Wojtczak A, Sitkowski J, Maj E, Wietrzyk J. Cytotoxic malonato platinum(II) complexes with 1,2,4-triazolo[1,5-a]pyrimidine derivatives: structural characterization and mechanism of the suppression of tumour cells growth. *J Inorg Biochem*, 2014, 141C, 188-197 doi: 10.1016/j.jinorgbio.2014.08.005 **IF 3,274 (35 pkt)**
- 57. Lange A, Dlubek D, Zdziarski R, Chodorowska A, Mordak-Domagala M, Klimczak A, Lange J, Jaskula E. Donor lymphocyte infusions to leukemic bone lesions are therapeutically effective in a Ph+ ALL patient with post-HSCT relapse. *J Immunotoxicol*, 2014, 11(4), 347-52 **IF 1,907** (**20 pkt**)

- 58. Laszkiewicz A, Bzdzion L, Kasztura M, Snieżewski L, Janik S, Kisielow P, Cebrat M.: Ikaros and rag-2-mediated antisense transcription are responsible for lymphocyte-specific inactivation of nwc promoter. *PLoS One*, 2014, 9: e106927 **IF 3,534** (**40 pkt**)
- 59. Łusiak-Szelachowska M., Żaczek M., Weber-Dąbrowska B., Międzybrodzki R., Kłak M., Fortuna W., Letkiewicz S., Rogóż P., Szufnarowski K., Jończyk-Matysiak E., Owczarek B., Górski A.: Phage neutralization by sera of patients receiving phage therapy. *Viral Immunol*, 2014, 27(6), 295-304 **IF 1,636** (**15 pkt**)
- 60. Mączyński M, Ryng S, Artym J, Kocięba M, Zimecki M, Brudnik K, Jodkowski JT: New lead structures in the isoxazole system: relationship between quantum chemical parameters and immunological activity. *Acta Pol. Pharm*, 2014, 71, 71-83 **IF 0,693** (**15 pkt**)
- 61. Maj T, Slawek A, Chelmonska-Soyta A.: CD80 and CD86 costimulatory molecules differentially regulate OT-II CD4⁺ T lymphocyte proliferation and cytokine response in cocultures with antigen-presenting cells derived from pregnant and pseudopregnant mice. *Mediators Inflamm*, 2014; 2014, 769239. doi: 10.1155/2014/769239 **IF 2,417 (30 pkt)**
- 62. Majorczyk E, Matusiak L, Nowak I, Pietkiewicz-Sworowska A, Luszczek W, Szepietowski JC, Kuśnierczyk P. A single nucleotide polymorphism -35 kb T>C (rs9264942) is strongly associated with psoriasis vulgaris depending on HLA-Cw(*)06. *Hum Immunol.* 2014, 75(6), 504-507 doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2014.04.003 **IF 2,282** (**20 pkt**)
- 63. Majorczyk E, Pawlik A, Gendosz D, Kuśnierczyk P.: Presence of the full-length *KIR2DS4* gene reduces the chance of rheumatoid arthritis patients to respond to methotrexate treatment. *BMC Muscoskel Dis*, 2014, 15, 256, pp. 1-6 **IF 1,898 (30 pkt)**
- 64. Makuch, E., Kuropatwa, M., Kurowska, E., Ciekot, J., Klopotowska, D., Matuszyk, J.: Phosphodiesterase 2 negatively regulates adenosine-induced transcription of the tyrosine hydroxylase gene in PC12 rat pheochromocytoma cells. *Mol Cell Endocrinol*, 2014, 392, 51-59 **IF 4,039** (**30 pkt**)
- 65. Masiewicz P., Wolański M., Brzostek A., Dziadek J., Zakrzewska-Czerwińska J.: Propionate represses the *dnaA* gene via the methylcitrate pathway-regulating transcription factor, PrpR, in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Anton Leeuw*, *Int. J.G.* 2014, 105, 951–959 **IF 2,137 (20 pkt)**
- 66. Masternak J, Barszcz B, Sawka-Dobrowolska W, Wietrzyk J, Jezierska J, Milczarek M. An efficient process to directly convert 1-hydroxymethyl-3,5-dimethylpyrazole to Cd(II) complexes via C-N bond creation: cytotoxicity and factors controlling the structures. *RSC Adv.*, 2014, 83 doi: 10.1039/C4RA07960D **IF 3,708** (**35 pkt**)
- 67. Matusiewicz M., Neubauer K., Mierzchala-Pasierb M., Gamian A., Krzystek-Korpacka M.: Matrix metalloproteinase-9: its interplay with angiogenic factors in inflammatory bowel diseases. *Dis Markers*, 2014; 2014, 643-645. doi: 10.1155/2014/643645. Epub 2014 Mar 31 **IF 2,174** (**25 pkt**)
- 68. Mazur G, Butrym A, Kryczek I, Dlubek D, Jaskula E, Lange A, Kuliczkowski K, Jelen M. Decreased expression of CXCR4 chemokine receptor in bone marrow after chemotherapy in patients with non-Hodgkin lymphomas is a good prognostic factor. *PLoS One*, 2014 9(5), e98194 **IF 3,534** (**40 pkt**)
- 69. Mazurek-Mochol M, Majorczyk E, Banach J, Dembowska E, Pawlik A, Kuśnierczyk P. Are KIR genes associated with clinical parameters in the course of periodontitis? *Post Hig Med Dośw*, 2014, 68, 1145-1151 **IF 0,633** (**15 pkt**)

- 70. Michalski M, St Swierzko A, Lukasiewicz J, Man-Kupisinska A, Karwaciak I, Przygodzka P, Cedzynski M.: Ficolin-3 activity towards the opportunistic pathogen, *Hafnia alvei. Immunobiology*, 2014, S0171-2985(14)00155-7. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio. 2014.08.012 **IF 3,180** (**30 pkt**)
- 71. Mikysková R, Indrová M, Vlková V, Bieblová J, Símová J, Paracková Z, Pajtasz-Piasecka E, Rossowska J, Reinis M.; DNA demethylating agent 5-azacytidine inhibits myeloid-derived suppressor cells induced by tumor growth and cyclophosphamide treatment. *J Leukoc Biol*, 2014 95(5), 743-753 **IF 4,304** (**35 pkt**)
- 72. Milczarek M, Filip-Psurska B, Swiętnicki W, Kutner A, Wietrzyk J. Vitamin D analogs combined with 5-fluorouracil in human HT-29 colon cancer treatment. *Oncol Rep.* 2014, 32, 491-504, doi: 10.3892/or.2014.3247 **IF 2,191** (**20 pkt**)
- 73. Morzyk-Ociepa B, Kokot M, Różycka-Sokołowska E, Giełzak-Koćwin K, Filip-Psurska B, Wietrzyk J, Michalska D.: Crystal structure, infrared and EPR spectra and anticancer activity *in vitro* of the novel manganese(II) complexes of indolecarboxylic acids. *Polyhedron*, 2014, 67, 464–470 **IF 2,813** (**30 pkt**)
- 74. Nanbakhsh A, Pochon C, Amsellem S, Pittari G, Tejchman A, Bourhis JH, Chouaib S.: Enhanced cytotoxic activity of ex vivo-differentiated human natural killer cells in the presence of HOXB4. *J Immunother*, 2014, 37, 278-282 **IF 3,354 (30 pkt)**
- 75. Nestor G, Lukasiewicz, J, Sandström C.: Structural analysis of the core oligosaccharide and the O-specific polysaccharide from the *Plesiomonas shigelloides* O33:H3 (strain CNCTC 34/89) lipopolysaccharide. *Eur J Organic Chem*, 2014, 6, 1241-1252 **IF 3,154** (**35 pkt**)
- 76. Nevozhay D. Cheburator software for automatically calculating drug inhibitory concentrations from in vitro screening assays. *PLoS One*, 2014, 9(9), e106186, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0106186 **IF 3,534 (40 pkt)**
- 77. Niepiekło-Miniewska W, Żuk N, Dubis J, Kurpisz M, Senitzer D, Havrylyuk A, Grendziak R, Witkiewicz W, Chopyak V, Kuśnierczyk P.: Two new cases of *KIR3DP1*, *KIR2DL4*-negative genotypes, one of which is also lacking *KIR3DL2*. *Arch Immunol Ther Exp*, 2014, 62, 423-429 doi 10.1007/s00005-013-0225-2 **IF 2,818 (25 pkt)**
- 78. Nieradka K., Kapczynska K., Rybka J., Lipinski T., Grabiec P., Skowicki M Gotszalk T.: Microcantilever array biosensors for detection and recognition of Gram-negative bacterial endotoxins. *Sensors Actuators B-Chemical*, 2014, 198, 114-124.**IF 3,840** (**40 pkt**)
- 79. Nowak J, Kościńska K, Mika-Witkowska R, Rogatko-Koroś M, Mizia S, Jaskuła E, Polak M, Mordak-Domagała M, Lange J, Gronkowska A, Jędrzejczak WW, Kyrcz-Krzemień S, Markiewicz M, Dzierżak-Mietła M, Tomaszewska A, Nasiłowska-Adamska B, Szczepiński A, Hałaburda K, Hellmann A, Komarnicki M, Gil L, Czyż A, Wachowiak J, Barańska M, Kowalczyk J, Drabko K, Goździk J, Wysoczańska B, Bogunia-Kubik K, Graczyk-Pol E, Witkowska A, Marosz-Rudnicka A, Nestorowicz K, Dziopa J, Szlendak U, Warzocha K, Lange A; Polish Donor-Recipient Matching Study Group. Donor NK cell licensing in control of malignancy in hematopoietic stem cell transplant recipients. *Am J Hematol.* 2014, 89(10), E176-83 **IF 3,477 (30 pkt)**
- 80. Nowicka A, Liszkiewicz H, Nawrocka WP, Wietrzyk J, Kempińska K, Dryś A. Synthesis and antiproliferative activity in vitro of new 2-aminobenzimidazole derivatives. Reaction of 2-arylideneaminobenzimidazole with selected nitriles containing active methylene group. *Cent Eur J Chem*, 2014, 12(10), 1047-1055 doi: 10.2478/s11532-014-0533-3 **IF 1,329** (**25 pkt**)

- 81. Orzechowska B., Chaber R., Wisniewska A., Pajtasz-Piasecka E., Jatczak B., Siemieniec I., Gulanowski B., Chybicka A., Błach-Olszewska Z.: Baicalin from the extract of *Scutellaria baicalensis* affects the innate immunity and apoptosis in leukocytes of children with acute lymphocytic leukemia. *Int Immunopharmacol*, 2014, 23, 558-567 **IF 2,711** (30 pkt)
- 82. Ostrowska B, Jaroszewicz J, Zaczyńska E, Tomaszewski W, Swieszkowski W, Kurzydlowski KJ: Evaluation of 3D hybrid microfiber/nanofiber scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. *Bull. Pol. Acad. Sci Tech. Sci*, 2014, 62 (3), 551-556 **IF 1,00 (25 pkt)**
- 83. Palusiak A, Maciejewska A, Ługowski C, Różalski A.: The amide of galacturonic acid with lysine as an immunodominant component of the lipopolysaccharide core region from Proteus penneri 42 strain. *Acta Biochim Pol.* 2014;61(1), 129-32 **IF 1,389** (**15 pkt**)
- 84. Paściak M., Pawlik K., Gamian A., Szponar B., Skóra J., Gutarowska B.: An airborne actinobacteria Nocardiopsis alba isolated from bioaerosol of a mushroom compost facility. *Aerobiologia*, 2014, 30(4), 413-422 **IF 1,202** (25 pkt)
- 85. Passmore C, Makidon PE, O'Konek JJ, Zahn JA, Pannu J, Hamouda T, Bitko V, Myc A, Lukacs NW, Fattom A, Baker JR Jr. Intranasal immunization with W 80 5EC adjuvanted recombinant RSV rF-ptn enhances clearance of respiratory syncytial virus in a mouse model. *Hum Vaccin Immunother*. 2014, (3), 615-22 **IF 2,131 (25 pkt)**
- 86. Pawlak A, Rapak A, Zbyryt I, Obmińska-Mrukowicz B.: The effect of common antineoplastic agents on induction of apoptosis in canine lymphoma and leukemia cell lines. *In Vivo*, 2014, 28(5), 843-850 **IF 1,148** (**20 pkt**)
- 87. Pawlak A., Rapak A., Drynda A., Poradowski D., Zbyryt I., Dzimira S., Suchański J., Obmińska-Mrukowicz B.: Immunophenotypic characterization of canine malignant lymphoma: a retrospective study of cases diagnosed in Poland Lower Silesia, over the period 2011-2013. *Vet Comp Oncol*, 2014 Jul 23. doi: 10.1111/vco.12112 **IF 1,448** (30 pkt)
- 88. Pawlak A., Strządała L., Kałas W.: Non-genomic effects of the NR4A1/Nur77/TR3/NGFIB orphan nuclear receptor. *Steroids*, 2014 Dec 30. pii: S0039-128X(14)00313-4. doi: 10.1016/j.steroids.2014.12.020. [Epub ahead of print] **IF 2,716** (**25 pkt**)
- 89. Pietraszek K, Chatron-Colliet A, Brézillon S, Perreau C, Jakubiak-Augustyn A, Krotkiewski H, Maquart FX, Węgrowski Y.: Lumican: a new inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinase-14 activity. *FEBS Lett*, 2014, 588, 4319-24 doi: 10.1016/j. febslet.2014.09.040 **IF 3,341 (30 pkt)**
- 90. Pokora M, Bambrowicz A, Dąbrowska A, Eckert E, Setner B, Szołtysik M, Szewczuk Z, Zabłocka A, Polanowski A, Trziszka T, Chrzanowska J.: An attractive way of egg white protein by-product use for producing of novel anti-hypertensive peptides. *Food Chemistry*, 2014, 151, 500-505 **IF 3,259 (40 pkt)**
- 91. Polak-Berecka M., Choma A., Waśko A., Górska S., Gamian A., Cybulska J.: Physicochemical characterization of exopolysaccharides produced by Lactobacillus rhamnosus on various carbon sources . *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 2014, 117, 501-509 **IF 3,916** (**40 pkt**)
- 92. Pula B, Olbromski M, Owczarek T, Ambicka A, Witkiewicz W, Ugorski M, Rys J, Zabel M, Dziegiel P, Podhorska-Okolow M.: Nogo-B receptor expression correlates negatively with malignancy grade and ki-67 antigen expression in invasive ductal breast carcinoma. *Anticancer Res*, 2014, 34, 4819-28 **IF 1,872** (20 pkt)

- 93. Rossowska J., Pajtasz-Piasecka E., Anger N., Wojas-Turek J., Kicielińska J., Piasecki E., Duś D.: Cyclophosphamide and IL-12-transduced DCs enhance the antitumor activity of tumor antigen-stimulated DCs and reduce Tregs and MDSCs number. *J Immunother*, 2014, 37, 427-439 **IF -3,354 (30 pkt)**
- 94. Rowińska-Zyrek M., Zakrzewska-Czerwińska J., Zawilak-Pawlik A., Kozłowski H.: Ni²⁺ chemistry in pathogens-a possible target for eradication. *Dalton Tran. Camb. Engl.* 2014, 43, 8976–8989 **IF 4,097 (40 pkt)**
- 95. Różycka-Roszak B, Misiak P, Woźniak E, Zaczyńska E, Czarny A, Wilk KA: Effect of biocompatible gluconamide-type cationic surfactants on thermotropic phase behavior of phosphatidylcholine/cholesterol bilayers. *Thermochim. Acta*, 2014, 590, 219-225 **IF 2,105 (25 pkt)**
- 96. Saczko J, Kamińska I, Kotulska M, Bar J, Choromańska A, Rembiałkowska N, Bieżuńska-Kusiak K, Rossowska J, Nowakowska D, Kulbacka J. Combination of therapy with 5-fluorouracil and cisplatin with electroporation in human ovarian carcinoma model in vitro. *Biomed Pharmacother*, 2014, 68(5), 573-80 **IF 2,108 (25 pkt)**
- 97. Sidoryk K, Jaromin A, Edward JA, Switalska M, Stefańska J, Cmoch P, Zagrodzka J, Szczepek W, Peczyńska-Czoch W, Wietrzyk J, Kozubek A, Zarnowski R, Andes DR, Kaczmarek L. Searching for new derivatives of neocryptolepine: Synthesis, antiproliferative, antimicrobial and antifungal activities. *Eur J Med Chem*, 2014, 78, 304-13 doi: 10.1016/j.ejmech.2014.03.060 **IF 3,432** (**40 pkt**)
- 98. Sochocka M., Taboł A., Sobczyński M., Zaczyńska E., Czarny A., Leszek J.: Innate antiviral immunity of human PBLs and immunoregulatory activity of EGb 761. *Central Eur J Biol*, 2014; 9, 359-366 **IF 0,633 (15 pkt)**
- 99. Sokolik R, Gębura K, Iwaszko M, Świerkot J, Korman L, Wiland P, Bogunia-Kubik K: Significance of association of HLA-C and HLA-E with psoriatic arthritis. *Human Immunol*, 2014, 75, 1188-1191 **IF 2,282** (**20 pkt**)
- 100. Sutovská M, Capek P, Kocmalová M, Pawlaczyk I, Zaczynska E, Czarny A, Uhliariková I, Gancarz R, Franová S: Characterization and pharmacodynamic properties of Arnica montana complex. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.*, 2014, 69, 214-221 **IF 3,096 (25 pkt)**
- 101. Swierkot J, Bogunia-Kubik K, Nowak B, Bialowas K, Korman L, Gebura K, Kolossa K, Jeka S, Wiland P: Analysis of associations between polymorphisms within genes coding for tumour necrosis factor (TNF)-alpha and TNF receptors and responsiveness to TNF-alpha blockers in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Joint Bone Spine* 2014 pii: S1297-319X(14)00198-5. doi: 10.1016/j.jbspin.2014.08.006. **IF 3,218** (**25 pkt**)
- 102. Swierkot J, Lewandowicz-Uszyńska A, Bogunia-Kubik K: Paraneoplastic syndromes and rheumatic diseases. *Post. Hig Med Dosw*, (online). 2014, 68, 944-54 **IF 0,633** (**15 pkt**)
- 103. Szafran M.J., Strick T., Strzałka A., Zakrzewska-Czerwińska J., Jakimowicz D.: A highly processive topoisomerase I: studies at the single-molecule level. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 2014, 42, 7935–7946 **IF 8,808 (40 pkt)**
- 104. Szermer-Olearnik B., Sochocka M., Zwolińska K., Ciekot J., Czarny A., Szydzik J., Kowalski K., Boratyński J.: Comparison of microbiological and physicochemical methods for enumeration of microorganisms. *Post Hig Med Dośw*, 2014;68, 1392-1396 **IF 0,633** (15 pkt)
- 105. Szijártó V, Lukasiewicz J, Gozdziewicz TK, Magyarics Z, Nagy E, Nagy G.: Diagnostic potential of monoclonal antibodies specific to the unique O-antigen of multidrug-resistant epidemic *Escherichia coli* clone ST131-O25b:H4. *Clin Vaccine Immunol*, 2014, 21(7), 930-9 **IF 2,370** (**20 pkt**)

- 106. Szmyrka-Kaczmarek M, Kosmaczewska A, Ciszak L, Szteblich A, Wiland P. Peripheral blood Th17/Treg imbalance in patients with low-active systemic lupus erythematosus. *Post. Hig. Med. Dośw.* 2014, 68, 893-898 **IF 0,633** (**15 pkt**)
- 107. Tabakow P., Raisman G., Fortuna W., Czyż M., Huber J., Li D., Szewczyk P., Okurowski S., Międzybrodzki R., Czapiga B., Salomon B., Halon A., Li Y., Lipiec J., Kulczyk A., Jarmundowicz W. Functional regeneration of supraspinal connections in a patient with transected spinal cord following ransplantation of bulbar olfactory ensheathing cells with peripheral nerve bridging. *Cell Transplant*, 2014, DOI: 10.3727/096368914X685131 IF 3,570 (25 pkt)
- 108. Wagner M, Bilinska M, Pokryszko–Dragan A, Sobczynski M, Cyrul M, Kusnierczyk P, Jasek M. ALCAM and CD6 the multiple sclerosis risk factors. *J Neuroimmunol*, 2014, pii: S0165-5728(14)00870-4. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroim.2014.08. 621 **IF 2,786** (**25 pkt**)
- 109. Wagner M, Wiśniewski A, Bilińska M, Pokryszko-Dragan A, Cyrul M, Kuśnierczyk P, Jasek M.: Investigation of gene-gene interactions between CD40 and CD40L in Polish multiple sclerosis patients. *Hum Immunol*. 2014, 75 796-801 doi: 10.1016/j.humimm. 2014.05.013 **IF 2,282 (20 pkt)**
- 110. Wang N, Świtalska M, Wu MY, Imai K, Ngoc TA, Pang CQ, Wang L, Wietrzyk J, Inokuchi T. Synthesis and *in vitro* cytotoxic effect of 6-amino-substituted 11H- and 11Me-indolo[3,2-c]quinolines. *Eur J Med Chem*, 2014, 78, 314-23 doi: 10.1016/j.ejmech.2014.03.038 **IF 3,432** (**40 pkt**)
- 111. Wiśniewski A, Frydecka D, Nowak I, Majorczyk E, Senitzer D, Piotrowski P, Beszlej A, Kiejna A, Kuśnierczyk P. Are KIR and HLA class I genes associated with schizophrenia? *Tissue Antigens* 2014, 84, 503-504. doi: 10.1111/tan.12423. **IF 2,350 (20 pkt)**
- 112. Wojciech L, Ignatowicz A, Seweryn M, Rempala G, Singh Pabla S, McIndoe RA, Kisielow P, Ignatowicz L.: The same self-peptide selects conventional and regulatory CD4(+) T cells with identical antigen receptors. *Nature Commun*, 2014, 5, 5061-5070 doi: 10.1038/ncomms6061 **IF 10,742** (**45 pkt.**)
- 113. Wolański M., Jakimowicz D., Zakrzewska-Czerwińska J.: Fifty years after the replicon hypothesis: cell-specific master regulators as new players in chromosome replication control. *J Bacteriol*, 2014, 196(6), 2901-2911 **IF 2,688 (30 pkt)**
- 114. Wróbel T, Gębura K, Wysoczańska B, Jaźwiec B, Dobrzyńska O, Mazur G, Kuliczkowski K, Bogunia-Kubik K: IL-17F gene polymorphism is associated with susceptibility to acute myeloid leukemia. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol*, 2014; 140(9): 1551-5 **IF 3,009** (25 pkt)
- 115. Wu M-Y, Shaban E, Świtalska M, Wang N, Shimoda M, Mizutani Y, Yoshida M, Mei Z-W, Kawafuchi H, Nokami J, Wietrzyk J, Yu X-Q, and Inokuchi T. Synthetic access to poly-substituted 11h-pyrido[3,2-a]carbazoles, a DNA-intercalating ellipticine related structure, and their antiproliferative activity. *Heterocycles*, 2014, 89: 1427-1440, doi: 10.3987/COM-14-12994 **IF 0,908** (20 pkt)
- 116. Zabłocka A, Sosnowska A, Urbaniak A, Janusz M, Polanowski A.: Peptides accompanying chicken egg yolk IgY alternative methods of isolation and immunoregulatory activity. *Food & Function* 2014, 5, 724-733 **IF 2,907 (30 pkt.)**
- 117. Zabłocka A, Urbaniak A, Kuropatwa M, Zyzak J, Rossowska J, Janusz M.: Can prolinerich polypeptide complex mimic the effect of nerve growth factor? *Biofactors*, 2014, 40, 501-512, doi 10.1002/biof.1174 **IF 3.00 (25 pkt.)**
- 118. Zimecki M, Artym J, Kocięba M, Duk M and Kruzel L: The effect of carbohydrate moiety structure on the immunoregulatory activity of lactoferrin in vitro. *Cell. Mol. Biol. Lett.*, 2014, 19, 284-296 **IF 1,782** (**15 pkt**)

Publications from the journals not included in JCR database:

- 1. Artym J, Zimecki M: Organizm gospodarza kontra drobnoustroje w walce o żelazo. Rola Żelaza w zakażeniach. *Kosmos* 2014; 63(3) (4 pkt)
- 2. Bil-Lula I., Stąpor S., Sochocka M., Wołyniec M., Zatońska K., Ilow R., Szuba A., Sawicki G., Woźniak M.: Infectobesity in the Polish population evaluation of an association between adenoviruses type 5, 31 36 and human obesity. *Int. J. Virol. Mol. Biol.*, 2014; 3 1-8 (8 pkt)
- 3. Bronowicka-Szydełko A, Kuzan A, Chwiłkowska A, Pietkiewicz J, Gamian A: Diagnostyka miażdżycy badania biochemiczne, a techniki obrazowania. Dokonania Młodych Naukowców, 2014, 2; s. 243-247 (4 pkt)
- 4. Bronowicka-Szydełko A, Pietkiewicz J, Serek P, Dołowacka A, Janik K, Gamian A: Obecność produktów glikacji (AGE) w preparatach dla niemowląt i małych dzieci jako jedna z kluczowych przyczyn otyłości u dzieci. Dokonania Młodych Naukowców, 2014, 4 cz.1; s. 383-388 (4 pkt)
- 5. Ciółek L, Karaś J, Olszyna A, Zaczyńska E, Czarny A: Badania właściwości fizykochemicznych i cytotoksyczności in vitro bioszkieł dotowanych Mg, Sr, Au. *Praca Instytutu Ceramiki i Materiałów Budowlanych*, 2014, 16, 17-28 (4 pkt)
- 6. Gamian A., Contribution of Professor Marek Niemiałtowski to Weigl Conferences, Proceedings of XV Conference DIAGMOL, 2014 "Molecular biology in diagnostics of infectious diseases and biotechnology", 25 October 2014, WULS-SGGW, Warszawa, ISBN: 978-83-7583-593-9, p. 23-24 (5 pkt)
- 7. Gozdziewicz T.K, Lukasiewicz J, Lugowski C.: Towards the characterization of common antigens of Enterobacteriaceae the cutting edge report on immunogenic form of enterobacterial common antigen ECALPS. 2014. *Annual Report 2014*, 92-94, Polish Academy of Sciences (**5 pkt**)
- 8. Jakubiak-Augustyn A, Sokolik R, Duk M, Szechiński J, Wiland P, Lisowska E, Sobczyński M, Krotkiewski H.: Serum IgG galactosylation in psoriatic arthritis (PSA) patients undergoing a biological treatment. A preliminary report. *Reumatologia*, 2014, 52(6), 369-376 (**5 pkt**)
- 9. Kasztura M, Stugiewicz M, Kobak K, Banasiak W, Ponikowski P, Jankowska EA: "Żelazne serce" co wiemy, a czego nie wiemy? *Kosmos*, 63, 3, 2014, 387-393 (**4 pkt**)
- 10. Kaźmierczak Z., Piotrowicz A., Owczarek B., Hodyra K., Miernikiewicz P., Lecion D, Harhala M., Górski A., Dąbrowska K.: Molecular imaging of T4 phage in mammalian tissues and cells. *Bacteriophage*, 2014, 4(1):e28364 (10 pkt)
- 11. Kisielow P.: Demonstration of functional heterogeneity of T lymphocytes and identification of their two major subsets. *Front. Immunol.* 2014, 5:609. (doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00609). (8 pkt)
- 12. Koba M, Smietana M, Brzozowska E, Gorska S, Mikulic P, Bock WJ: Bacteriophage adhesin-coated long-period gratings for bacterial lipopolysaccharide recognition, Proc SPIE 9157, 23rd International Conference on Optical Fibre Sensors, 915757 (June 2, 2014); 01/2014. DOI: 10.1117/12.2059618, 2014 (**5 pkt**)
- 13. Marchwicka A, Cebrat M, Sampath P, Snieżewski L, Marcinkowska E.: Perspectives of differentiation therapies of acute myeloid leukemia: the search for the molecular basis of patients' variable responses to 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin d and vitamin d analogs. *Front Oncol.* 2014, 4, 125. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00125 (7 pkt)

- 14. Oleksyszyn J, Wietrzyk J, Psurski M.: Cancer Could it be Cured? A spontaneous regression of cancer, cancer energy metabolism, hyperglycemia-hypoglycemia, metformin, warburg and crabtree effects and a new perspective in cancer treatment. *J Cancer Sci Ther*, 2014, 6, 056-061. doi:10.4172/1948-5956.1000249 (**5 pkt**)
- 15. Pawlak-Adamska E, Bartosinska M, Wlodarska-Polinska I, Ignatowicz-Pacyna A, Kornafel J, Stepien M, Kochanowska IE, Frydecka I: Tagging Snps in the excision repair cross-complementing group 4 (ERCC4)gene increased risk of cervical squamous cell carcinoma (CSCC) and modulate the disease outcome. *J. Carcinog. Mutagen.*, 2014, 5, 3 http://dx.doi.org/10.4172/2157-2518.1000172 (5 pkt)
- 16. Pawlak-Adamska E., Bartosinska M., Wlodarska-Polinska I., Ignatowicz-Pacyna A., Kornafel J., Stepien M., Kochanowska I.E., Frydecka I. Tagging SNPs in the excision repair cross-complementing group 4 (*ERCC4*) gene increased risk of cervical squamous cell carcimona (CSCC) and modulate the disease outcome. *J Carcinog Mutagen* 2014, 5:172. doi: 10.4172/2157-2518.1000172. (**5 pkt**)
- 17. Szermer-Olearnik B, Boratyński J.:. Bacteriophages nanoparticles of wide application range (Bakteriofagi nanocząstki o szerokich zastosowaniach). *Chemik* (nauka-technikarynek) 2014, 68(9) 761–765 (artykuł dwujęzyczny ang/pol) (**8 pkt**)

Published monographs and chapters of books:

Borysowski J., Międzybrodzki R., Górski A. (red.): Phage Therapy: Current Research and Applications. ISBN 9789-1-908230-40-9Norfolk: Caister Academic Press, 2014, 378 stron

Lange A. (red.): Manual metodyczny - "Przewodnik po badaniach immunogenetycznych stosowanych w rozpoznawaniu chorób i doborze transplantacyjnym", wyd. Termedia, 2014, str. 1-260

- 1. Bogunia-Kubik K., Lange A.: Analiza i znaczenie kliniczne polimorfizmu genu kodującego czynnik pochodzenia stromalnego-1 (SDF-1/CXCL12). W: Manualu metodycznym "Przewodnik po badaniach immunogenetycznych stosowanych w rozpoznawaniu chorób i doborze transplantacyjnym" (ed. A. Lange), wyd. Termedia 2014, 233-242
- 2. Borysowski J., Górski A.: The use of phages as biocontrol agents in foods. W: *Phage Therapy: Current Research and Applications*, Borysowski J., Międzybrodzki R., Górski A. (red.). Norfolk: Caister Academic Press, 2014, pp. 215-236 (**5 pkt**)
- 3. Dąbrowska K., Międzybrodzki R., Miernikiewicz P., Figura G., Górski A.: Non-bactericidal effects of phages in mammals. W: *Phage Therapy: Current Research and Applications*, Borysowski J., Międzybrodzki R., Górski A. (red.). Norfolk: Caister Academic Press, 2014, pp. 141-156 (**5 pkt**)
- 4. Jaskuła E., Lange A.: Polimorfizm rs1800795 (-174 G/C), w promotorowej części genu IL-6 znaczenie biologiczne i kliniczne. W: Manualu metodycznym "Przewodnik po badaniach immunogenetycznych stosowanych w rozpoznawaniu chorób i doborze transplantacyjnym" (ed. A. Lange), wyd. Termedia 2014, 125-157
- 5. Jaskuła E., Lange A.: Polimorfizmy rs18000896 (-1082 G/A), rs18000871 (-819 C/T), rs18000872 (-592 C/A) w promotorowej części IL-10 znaczenie biologiczne i kliniczne. W: Manualu metodycznym "*Przewodnik po badaniach immunogenetycznych*

- stosowanych w rozpoznawaniu chorób i doborze transplantacyjnym" (ed. A. Lange), wyd. Termedia 2014, 199-232
- 6. Jaskuła E.: Polimorfizm rs1800629 (-308 G/A), w promotorowej części genu TNF-alfa znacznie kliniczne i biologiczne. W: Manualu metodycznym "*Przewodnik po badaniach immunogenetycznych stosowanych w rozpoznawaniu chorób i doborze transplantacyjnym*" (ed. A. Lange), wyd. Termedia 2014, 105-124
- 7. Klimczak A., Lange A.: Identyfikacja komórek produkujących interleukiny 17 w odniesieniu do sytuacji klinicznej i predyspozycji genetycznej odpowiedzi na bakterie jelitowe. W: Manualu metodycznym "Przewodnik po badaniach immunogenetycznych stosowanych w rozpoznawaniu chorób i doborze transplantacyjnym" (ed. A. Lange), wyd. Termedia 2014, 173-186
- 8. Kurzępa-Skaradzińska A., Skaradziński G., Troszok A., Weber-Dąbrowska B., Żaczek M., Maj T., Sławek A., Rymowicz W., Górski A. Influence of bacteriophage preparations on migratory activity of human granulocytes *in vitro*. In: Industrial, Medical and Environmental Applications of Microorganisms: Current Status and Trends. ed. Méndez-Vilas A. Wageningen Academic Publishers, 2014, pp.529-534 (**5 pkt**)
- 9. Kutter E., Borysowski J., Międzybrodzki R., Górski A., Weber-Dąbrowska B., Kutateladze M., Alavidze Z., Goderdzishvili M., Adamia R.: Clinical phage therapy. W: *Phage Therapy: Current Research and Applications*, Borysowski J., Międzybrodzki R., Górski A. (red.). Norfolk: Caister Academic Press, 2014, pp. 257-288 (**5 pkt**)
- 10. Lange A.: Interferon γ ważna cytokina i istotny polimorfizm jej genu. W: Manualu metodycznym "Przewodnik po badaniach immunogenetycznych stosowanych w rozpoznawaniu chorób i doborze transplantacyjnym" (ed. A. Lange), wyd. Termedia 2014, 187-198
- 11. Łobocka M., Hejnowicz MS., Gągała U., Weber-Dąbrowska B., Węgrzyn G., Dadlez M.: The first step to bacteriophage therapy: how to choose the correct phage. W: *Phage Therapy: Current Research and Applications*, Borysowski J., Międzybrodzki R., Górski A. (red.). Norfolk: Caister Academic Press, 2014, pp. 23-68 (**5 pkt**)
- 12. Weber-Dąbrowska B., Żaczek M., Dziedzic B., Łusiak-Szelachowska M., Kiejzik M., Górski A., Gworek B., Wierzbicki K., Eymontt A.: Bacteriophages in green biotechnology the utilization of drinking water, In: Industrial, Medical and Environmental Applications of Microorganisms: Current Status and Trends. ed. Méndez-Vilas A. Wageningen Academic Publishers, 2014, pp. 500-504 (5 pkt)
- 13. Żywicka B, Zaczyńska E, Czarny A, Paluch D, Szymonowicz M, Rybak Z, Pielka S. Badania biologiczne prototypów włókninowych i piankowych wyrobów opatrunkowych. Biodegradowalne wyroby włókniste; red Izabella Krucińska z zespołem; Monografia Politechniki Łódzkiej, 2014, 264-272 (4 pkt)

Articles published without IITD affiliation:

1. Ceremuga I., Seweryn E., Bednarz-Misa I., Pietkiewicz J., Jermakow K., Banaś T., Gamian A.: Enolase-like protein present on the outer membrane of Pseudomonas aeruginosa binds plasminogen. *Folia Microbiol (Praha)*, 2014, 59(5), 391-397. doi: 10.1007/s12223-014-0311-9. Epub 2014 Mar 27 **IF** – **1,145** (**15 pkt Min.**)

- 2. Duś-Szachniewicz K., Ostasiewicz P., Woźniak M., Gamian A.: The application of cell cultures, body fluids and tissues in oncoproteomics. *Post Hig Med Dosw*, (online). 2014, 17; 68, 1312-1324 **IF 0,633(15 pkt Min.)**
- 3. Krzystek-Korpacka M., Diakowska D., Bania J., Gamian A.: Expression stability of common housekeeping genes is differently affected by bowel inflammation and cancer: implications for finding suitable normalizers for inflammatory bowel disease studies. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* 2014 Jul;20(7):1147-56. doi: 10.1097/MIB.000000000000007. **IF 5,475** (**40** pkt Min.)
- 4. Malczewska-Lenczowska J, Orysiak J, Majorczyk E, Pokrywka A, Kaczmarski J, Szygula Z, Sitkowski D. No association between tHbmass and polymorphisms in the HBB gene in endurance athletes. *Biol Sport*, 2014, 31, 115-9. doi: 10.5604/20831862.1099372. (15 pkt)
- 5. Seweryn E., Gleńsk M., Sroda-Pomianek K., Ceremuga I., Włodarczyk M., Gamian A.: Cytotoxic effects of four aescin types on human colon adenocarcinoma cell lines. *Nat Prod Commun.* 2014, 9(3), 387-390. **IF 0,924** (20 pkt Min.)
- 6. Woźniak M., Hotowy K., Czapińska E., Duś-Szachniewicz K., Szczuka I., Gamian E., Gamian A., Terlecki G., Ziółkowski P.: Early induction of stress-associated Src activator/Homo sapiens chromosome 9 open reading frame 10 protein following photodynamic therapy. *Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther.* 2014 Mar;11(1):27-33. doi: 10.1016/j.pdpdt.2013.11.002. **IF 2,524 (20 pkt Min.)**
- 7. Robbins JB, Schneerson R, Kubler-Kielb J, Keith JM, Trollfors B, Vinogradov E, Shiloach J. Toward a new vaccine for pertussis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2014 Mar 4;111(9):3213-6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1324149111. Epub 2014 Feb. 20 **IF 9,809** (**45 pkt**)
- 8. Li W, Upadhyay A, Fontes FL, North EJ, Wang Y, Crans DC, Grzegorzewicz AE, Jones V, Franzblau SG, Lee RE, Crick DC, Jackson M. Novel insights into the mechanism of inhibition of MmpL3, a target of multiple pharmacophores in Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2014, Nov;58(11):6413-23. doi: 10.1128/AAC.03229-14. Epub 2014 Aug 18 IF 4,451 (40 pkt)
- 9.. DiGiuseppe S., Bienkowska-Haba M., Hilbig L., Sapp M.: The nuclear retention signal of HPV16 L2 protein is essential for incoming viral genome to transverse the trans-Golgi network. *Virology*, 2014, 458-459, 93-105 **IF 5,076** (25 pkt)